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DISCOVERY PARTNERS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
PART I
FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements
Discovery Partners International, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
March 31, 2001

December 31, 2000

(unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid and other current assets

$

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Restricted cash
Patent, license rights and other intangible assets, net
Goodwill, net
Other assets, net
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

80,822,615
6,972,207
11,337,014
1,769,150

$

100,900,986
10,656,820
800,000
6,296,863
54,294,603
2,091,174

97,690,236
9,395,097
9,787,005
1,685,914
118,558,252
9,567,871
1,000,000
3,121,074
45,154,516
2,378,600

$ 175,040,446

$

179,780,313

$

$

4,806,037

4,427,837

3
4
5
6
9
18
19
19
19
19
19
19

Deferred business acquisition payment
Current portion of obligations under capital leases, equipment notes
payable, line of credit and promissory notes
Deferred revenue
Total current liabilities
Obligations under capital leases, equipment notes payable, and promissory
notes less current portion
Deferred rent
Minority interest in Structural Proteomics
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $.001 par value, 99,000,000 shares authorized,
24,011,821 and 23,931,237 issued and outstanding at March 31, 2001
and December 31, 2000, respectively
Preferred stock, $.001 par value, 1,000,000 shares authorized, 0 shares
issued and outstanding at March 31, 2001 and December 31, 2000
Additional paid-in capital
Deferred compensation
Note receivable from stockholder
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

—

931,335

669,282
4,095,253

661,160
5,172,475

9,192,372

11,571,007

825,723
86,685
566,396

944,123
74,583
628,383

24,011

23,931

—
200,271,467
(1,707,990)
(240,000)
(347,803)
(33,630,415)

—
200,184,929
(2,032,378)
(240,000)
54,903
(31,429,168)

164,369,270

166,562,217

$ 175,040,446

$

179,780,313

See accompanying notes.
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Discovery Partners International, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

Revenues
Cost of revenues (exclusive of $4,481 and $3,663 for the
three months ended March 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively,
of stock-based compensation)

March 31, 2001

March 31, 2000

$

$

9,523,951

5,173,043

4,464,278

3,052,994

5,059,673

2,120,049

3,892,830

618,981

Selling, general & administrative (exclusive of $183,156
and $171,858 for the three months ended March 31, 2001 and 2000,
respectively, of stock-based compensation)

2,797,460

1,519,285

Amortization of stock-based compensation
Amortization of goodwill

324,388
1,499,567

263,367
155,146

8,514,245

2,556,779

(3,454,572)
1,155,474
35,864
61,987

(436,729)
(1,322,424)
128,772
—

Gross margin
Cost and expenses:
Research and development (exclusive of $136,751 and $87,846
for the three months ended March 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively,
of stock-based compensation)

Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest income (expense)
Foreign currency gains
Minority interest in Structural Proteomics

Net loss

$

(2,201,247)

$

(1,630,381)

Historical net loss per share, basic and diluted

$

(0.09)

$

(1.23)

Shares used in calculating historical net loss per share, basic and diluted

23,774,548

1,323,860

Pro Forma net loss per share, basic and diluted

$

(0.21)

Shares used in calculating pro forma net loss per share, basic and diluted

7,938,689

See accompanying notes.
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Discovery Partners International, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)
Three Months ended

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of goodwill
Amortization of deferred compensation
Minority interest in Structural Proteomics
Noncash interest expense for warrants issued
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Deferred rent
Restricted cash
Net cash used in operating activities
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment
Other assets
Purchase of patents, license rights and other intangible assets
Additional cash consideration for acquisition of Discovery Technologies Ltd.
Purchase of Systems Integration Drug Discovery Company, net of cash
acquired
Net cash used in investing activities
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from equipment lease line
Principal payments on capital leases, equipment notes payable, line of credit
and promissory notes
Issuance of common stock, net of purchases
Proceeds from convertible notes payable
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

March 31, 2001

March 31, 2000

$

$

(2,201,247)
1,220,748
1,499,567
324,388
(61,987)
—

(1,630,381)
608,112
—
263,367
1,243,847

2,682,040
(1,193,703)
(22,255)
(973,904)
(2,282,763)
12,102
200,000

(296,289)
(945,573)
(144,009)
(317,700)
(86,109)
3,485
45,200

(797,014)

(1,256,050)

(997,098)
287,425
(2,028,970)
(894,300)

(1,038,283)
(230,822)
—
(1,721,775)

(12,011,297)
(15,644,240)
—

—
(2,990,880)
747,150

(110,278)
86,617
—

(314,428)
66,056
2,000,000

(23,661)

2,498,778

Effect of exchange rate changes
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

(402,706)

(152,668)

(16,867,621)
97,690,236

(1,900,820)
2,884,639

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$

80,822,615

$

983,819

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Interest paid

$

29,605

$

124,189

$

—
—

SUPPLEMENTAL SCHEDULE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Fair value of assets acquired
Cash paid for capital stock

$ 14,323,709
$ (12,522,464)

Liabilities assumed
Issuance of warrant to purchase preferred stock

$

1,801,245

$

—

—
$

1,105,767

See accompanying notes.
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DISCOVERY PARTNERS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(UNAUDITED)
MARCH 31, 2001
1. Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles for interim financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do
not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. The
condensed consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2001, condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended
March 31, 2001 and 2000, and the condensed consolidated statements of cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2001 and 2000 are
unaudited, but include all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) which the Company considers necessary for a fair presentation
of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the periods presented. The results of operations for the three months ended
March 31, 2001 shown herein are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31, 2001. For more
complete financial information, these financial statements, and notes thereto, should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2000 included in the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
The consolidated financial statements include all the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned or majority-owned subsidiaries, IRORI
Europe, Ltd., Discovery Technologies, Ltd., ChemRx Advanced Technologies, Inc., Structural Proteomics, Inc., and Systems Integration Drug
Discovery Company, Inc. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
2. Net Loss Per Share
Basic and diluted net loss per common share are presented in conformity with SFAS No. 128, Earnings per Share, and SAB 98, for all periods
presented. Under the provisions of SAB 98, common stock and redeemable convertible preferred stock that has been issued or granted for
nominal consideration prior to the anticipated effective date of the initial public offering must be included in the calculation of basic and diluted net
loss per common share as if these shares had been outstanding for all periods presented. To date, the Company has not issued or granted shares
for nominal consideration.
In accordance with SFAS No. 128, basic and diluted net loss per share has been computed using the weighted-average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during the period; less shares subject to repurchase. Pro forma basic and diluted net loss per common share, as
presented in the statement of operations, has been computed for the three months ended March 31, 2000 as described above, and also gives
effect to the conversion of preferred stock which automatically converted to common stock immediately prior to the completion of the Company’s
initial public offering on July 27, 2000 (using the “as if converted” method) from the original date of issuance.
The Company has excluded all convertible preferred stock, outstanding stock options and warrants, and shares subject to repurchase from the
calculation of diluted net loss per common share because all such securities are anti-dilutive for all applicable periods presented.
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3. Comprehensive Loss

SFAS No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income, requires the Company to report, in addition to net income,
comprehensive income (loss) and its components. A summary follows:
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(Unaudited)
Three months ended
March 31, 2001

March 31, 2000

Comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Net loss

$

(402,706)
(2,201,247)

$

(96,621)
(1,630,381)

Comprehensive loss

$

(2,603,953)

$

(1,727,002)

4. Acquisition of Systems Integration Drug Discovery Company, Inc.
On January 12, 2001, the Company acquired Systems Integration Drug Discovery Company, Inc. (SIDDCO), a privately held company located
in Tucson, Arizona, for approximately $12.5 million. The acquisition was accounted for as a purchase in accordance with the provisions of APB
No. 16.
A summary of the SIDDCO acquisition costs and allocation to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is as follows:
Total acquisition costs:
Cash paid at acquisition
Acquisition-related expenses

$12,082,171
440,293
$12,522,464

Allocated to assets and liabilities as follows:
Tangible assets acquired
Assumed liabilities
Assembled workforce
Customer contracts
Goodwill

$ 2,226,786
(1,801,245)
731,234
689,000
10,676,689
$12,522,464

The goodwill will be amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of ten years from the date of acquisition. The assembled workforce will be
amortized on a straight-line basis over a period of four years from the date of acquisition. The customer contracts will be amortized on a straightline basis over 30 months from the date of acquisition. The pro forma results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2000 as if the
acquisition of SIDDCO had occurred on January 1, 2000 are not materially different than the reported net loss.
5. Deferred Stock Compensation
In conjunction with the Company’s initial public offering completed in July 2000, the Company has recorded deferred stock compensation
totaling approximately $2.7 million and $1.0 million during the years ended December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively, representing the difference
at the date of grant between the exercise or purchase price and estimated fair value of the Company’s common stock as estimated by the
Company’s management for financial reporting purposes in accordance with APB No. 25. Deferred compensation is included as a reduction of
stockholders’ equity and is being amortized to expense on an accelerated basis in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board
Interpretation No. 28 over the vesting period of the options and restricted stock. During the three months ended March 31, 2001 and 2000, the
Company recorded amortization of stock-based compensation expense of approximately $324,000 and $263,000, respectively.
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6. Subsequent Event
In May 2001, the Company acquired Xenometrix, Inc., a publicly held company located in Boulder, Colorado for a total consideration of
approximately $2.5 million. The acquisition will be accounted for as a purchase in accordance with the provisions of APB No. 16.
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DISCOVERY PARTNERS INTERNATIONAL, INC.
PART I
FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
THIS FORM 10-Q CONTAINS CERTAIN STATEMENTS THAT ARE NOT STRICTLY HISTORICAL AND ARE “FORWARD-LOOKING”
STATEMENTS WITHIN THE MEANING OF THE PRIVATE SECURITIES LITIGATION REFORM ACT OF 1995 AND INVOLVE A HIGH
DEGREE OF RISK AND UNCERTAINTY. OUR ACTUAL RESULTS MAY DIFFER MATERIALLY FROM THOSE PROJECTED IN THE
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS DUE TO RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES THAT EXIST IN OUR OPERATIONS, DEVELOPMENT
EFFORTS AND BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT, INCLUDING THOSE DESCRIBED BELOW UNDER THE HEADING “RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES” AND THOSE DESCRIBED IN OUR FORM 10-K FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000 AND OTHER REPORTS
FILED WITH THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION.
Overview
We sell a broad range of products and services to pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies to make the drug discovery process for our
customers faster, less expensive and more effective at generating drug candidates. We focus on the portion of the drug discovery process that
begins after identification of a drug target through when a drug candidate is ready for clinical trials. We develop, produce and sell collections of
chemical compounds that pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies test for their potential use as new drugs or for use as the chemical
starting point for new drugs. We also develop, manufacture and sell proprietary instruments and the associated line of consumable supplies that
are used by the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries in their own in-house drug discovery chemistry operations. Additionally, we provide
testing services to our customers in which chemical compounds are tested for their biological activity as potential drugs. We also provide
computational software tools that guide the entire process of chemical compound design, development and testing.
Results of Operations For The Three Months Ended March 31, 2001 and 2000
Revenue. Total revenues increased 84% from the three months ended March 31, 2000 to the three months ended March 31, 2001. The
revenue growth was primarily due to the acquisitions of Axys Advanced Technologies (completed in April, 2000) and Systems Integration Drug
Discovery Company (completed in January, 2001). We noted during the first quarter the potential deferral by certain prospective customer
pharmaceutical companies to purchase big-ticket items such as large libraries of chemical compounds or capital equipment such as our
proprietary NanoKan™ System.
Gross margin. Gross margins as a percentage of revenues increased from 41% for the three months ended March 31, 2000 to 53% for the
three months ended March 31, 2001. The gross margin improvement resulted from a change in our product mix to include a greater proportion of
higher margin compound library revenue, as well as improved margins on our instrumentation product line and the recognition of a nonrefundable
prepayment that was earned in the first quarter of 2001 pursuant to the provisions of a chemistry contract.
Research and development expenses. Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and benefits, supplies and expensed
development materials, and facilities costs and equipment depreciation. Research and development expenses increased 529% ($3.3 million) from
the three months ended March 31, 2000 to the three months ended March 31, 2001. Research and development expenses increased primarily due
to the research and development expenses associated with the businesses we acquired during the last four quarters.
Selling, general and administrative expenses. Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and benefits for sales
and marketing and administrative personnel, advertising and promotional expenses, professional services, and facilities costs. Selling, general and
administrative expenses increased 84%
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($1.3 million) from the three months ended March 31, 2000 to the three months ended March 31, 2001, in proportion with our revenue growth during
the year.
Stock-based compensation. During 1999 and 2000, we granted stock options with exercise prices that were less than the estimated fair value
of the underlying shares of common stock on the date of grant. As a result, we have recorded deferred stock-based compensation to be amortized

over the period that these options vest. The deferred stock-based compensation expense for the three months ended March 31, 2001 was
approximately $324,000, compared to approximately $263,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2000.
Amortization of goodwill. We recognized approximately $1.5 million in goodwill amortization expense for the three months ended March 31,
2001 compared to approximately $155,000 in goodwill amortization expense recognized during the three months ended March 31, 2000. Goodwill is
amortized straight-line over ten years. All acquisitions were accounted for as purchases.
Interest income. We realized net interest income of approximately $1.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2001, as compared to net
interest expense of approximately $1.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2000. Interest earned during the three months ended
March 31, 2001 was from the investment of our cash balance remaining from our July/August 2000 initial public offering proceeds. The net interest
expense incurred during the three months ended March 31, 2000 was primarily a result of approximately $1.2 million in imputed interest expense
equal to the fair value of warrants that were issued in connection with certain notes payable.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Since inception of the Company, we have funded our operations principally with $39.0 million of private equity financings and $94.7 million of
net proceeds from our initial public offering in July/August 2000.
At March 31, 2001, cash and cash equivalents totaled approximately $80.8 million, compared to $97.7 million at December 31, 2000.
Net cash used in operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2001 was approximately $797,000. A net loss of $2.2 million, an
increase in inventory of $1.2 million and decreases in accounts payable, accrued expenses and deferred revenue totaling $3.3 million were offset
by non-cash charges of $3.0 million, a decrease in accounts receivable of $2.7 million and a decrease of restricted cash of $200,000.
We currently anticipate investing up to $3.0 million through December 31, 2001 for leasehold improvements and capital equipment necessary
to support future revenue growth. Our actual future capital requirements will depend on a number of factors, including our success in increasing
sales of both existing and new products and services, expenses associated with any unforeseen litigation, regulatory changes and competition and
technological developments, and potential future merger and acquisition activity. During the three months ended March 31, 2001 we acquired
Systems Integration Drug Discovery Company, Inc. for approximately $12 million net of cash acquired, paid $2 million cash in prepaid royalties to
Abbott Laboratories in connection with an exclusive license to their patented Micro Arrayed Compound Screening technology, paid $.9 million cash
for the final contingent purchase price payment for Discovery Technologies Ltd., and agreed to acquire Xenometrix, Inc. for approximately
$2.5 million in cash. In May 2001, we completed the acquisition of Xenometrix. We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents, plus any cash
generated from operations, will be sufficient to fund our operating expenses, debt obligations and capital requirements through at least
December 31, 2001.
RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
In addition to the other information contained herein, you should carefully consider the following risk factors in evaluating our company.
Risks Related To Our Business
We recently have acquired several businesses and face risks associated with integrating these businesses and potential future
acquisitions.
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We recently completed the acquisitions of Discovery Technologies, AAT, 75% of the outstanding stock of Structural Proteomics, SIDDCO and
Xenometrix and are in the process of integrating these businesses. We plan to continue to review potential acquisition candidates in the ordinary
course of our business, and our strategy includes building our business through acquisitions. Acquisitions involve numerous risks, including,
among others, difficulties and expenses incurred in the consummation of acquisitions and assimilation of the operations, personnel and services or
products of the acquired companies, difficulties of operating new businesses, the diversion of management’s attention from other business
concerns and the potential loss of key employees of the acquired company. For example, distance and cultural differences may make it difficult
for us to successfully assimilate the operations of our recently acquired assay development and high throughput screening operations (Discovery
Technologies) located in Switzerland with our medicinal chemistry operations located in San Diego. Further, integrating the chemistry operations
performed by AAT and SIDDCO with our existing ChemRx chemistry operations will cause some key employees to have overlapping functional
roles, which may lead to their departure if they are unable or unwilling to assume new or different roles within our merged organization. In addition,
acquired businesses may have management structures incompatible with our own and may experience difficulties in maintaining their existing
levels of business after joining us. If we do not successfully integrate and grow the five businesses we recently acquired or any businesses we
may acquire in the future, our business will suffer. Additionally, acquisition candidates may not be available in the future or may not be available
on terms and conditions acceptable to us. Acquisitions of foreign companies also may involve additional risks of assimilating different business
practices, overcoming language and cultural barriers and foreign currency translation. We currently have no agreements or commitments with
respect to any acquisition, and we may never successfully complete any additional acquisitions.
We may not achieve or sustain profitability in the future.
We are at an early stage of executing our business plan. We have incurred operating and net losses since our inception. As of March 31,
2001, we had an accumulated deficit of $33.6 million. For the years ended December 31, 1998, 1999, and 2000, and the three months ended
March 31, 2001 we had net losses of $6.3 million, $3.4 million, $11.7 million and $2.2 million, respectively. We may also in the future incur
operating and net losses and negative cash flow from operations, due in part to anticipated increases in expenses for research and product
development, acquisitions of complementary businesses and technologies and expansion of our sales and marketing capabilities. We incurred no

goodwill charges in the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1999, and we incurred goodwill charges of $3.4 million in the year ended
December 31, 2000 and $1.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2001. Goodwill charges for the Discovery Technologies, AAT and
Structural Proteomics acquisitions will be at a straight-line rate of $405,000 per month, or $4.8 million per year, for the ten-year period beginning in
July 2000. For the SIDDCO acquisition, we expect goodwill charges to be at a straight-line rate of $89,000 per month, or $1.1 million per year, for
the ten-year period beginning in January 2001. Given our acquisition strategy, we expect significant goodwill charges to affect our net income
(loss) for the foreseeable future. We may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability. Moreover, if we do achieve profitability, the level of any
profitability cannot be predicted and may vary significantly from quarter to quarter.
We may incur exchange losses when foreign currency used in international transactions is converted into U.S. dollars.
Currency fluctuations between the U.S. dollar and the currencies in which we do business including the British pound, the Swiss franc and the
Euro will cause foreign currency translation gains and losses. We cannot predict the effects of exchange rate fluctuations on our future operating
results because of the number of currencies involved, changes in the percentage of our revenue which will be invoiced in foreign currencies, the
variability of currency exposure and the potential volatility of currency exchange rates. We do not currently engage in foreign exchange hedging
transactions to manage our foreign currency exposure.
If our products and services do not become widely used in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, it is unlikely that we will be
profitable.
We have a limited history of offering our products and services, including our collections of chemical compounds, informatics tools and
NanoKan System. It is uncertain whether our current customers will continue to use these products and services or whether new customers will
use these products and services. In order to be

11

Table of Contents

successful, our products and services must meet the requirements of the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries, and we must convince
potential customers to use our products and services instead of competing technologies and offerings. Market acceptance will depend on many
factors, including our ability to:

•

convince potential customers that our technologies are attractive alternatives to other technologies for drug
discovery;

•

manufacture products and conduct services in sufficient quantities with acceptable quality and at an acceptable
cost;

•

convince potential customers to purchase drug discovery products and services from us rather than developing
them internally; and

•

place and service sufficient quantities of our products.

Because of these and other factors, some of which are beyond our control, our products and services may not gain market acceptance.
We may fail to expand customer relationships through integration of products and services.
We may not be successful in selling our offerings in combination across the range of drug discovery disciplines we serve because integrated
combinations of our products and services may not achieve time and cost efficiencies for our customers. In addition, we may not succeed in
further integrating our offerings. We may not be able to use existing relationships with customers in individual areas of our business to sell
products and services in multiple areas of drug discovery. If we do not achieve integration of our products and services, we may not be able to
take advantage of potential revenue opportunities.
Our success will depend on our ability to manage rapid growth and expansion.
Growth in our operations has placed and, if we grow in the future, will continue to place a significant strain on our operational, human and
financial resources. We recently have acquired five new businesses, and we intend to continue to grow our business internally and by acquisition.
We have not yet fully expanded our management and infrastructure to accommodate all of our past acquisitions in advance of anticipated growth.
Therefore, as we expand our operations we will not necessarily have in place infrastructure and personnel sufficient to accommodate the increased
size of our business. Our ability to manage effectively any growth through acquisitions or any internal growth will depend, in large part, on our
ability to hire, train and assimilate additional management, professional, scientific and technical personnel and our ability to expand, improve and
effectively use our operating, management, marketing and financial systems to accommodate our expanded operations. These tasks are made
more difficult as we acquire businesses in geographically disparate locations, such as our recent acquisitions of Discovery Technologies in
Switzerland, AAT in the San Francisco area, Structural Proteomics in New Jersey, SIDDCO in Tucson, Arizona and Xenometrix in Colorado.
Our Directed Sorting products and our large compound libraries have lengthy sales cycles, which could cause our operating results to
fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter.
Sales of our Directed Sorting products and our large compound libraries typically involve significant technical evaluation and commitment of
capital by our customers. Accordingly, the sales cycles, or the time from finding a prospective customer through closing the sale, associated with

these products, range from six to eighteen months. Sales of these products are subject to a number of significant risks, including customers’
budgetary constraints and internal acceptance reviews, that are beyond our control. Due to these lengthy and unpredictable sales cycles, our
operating results could fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter. We expect to continue to experience significant fluctuations in quarterly
operating results due to a variety of factors, such as general and industry specific economic conditions, that may affect the research and
development expenditures of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies.
A large portion of our expenses, including expenses for facilities, equipment and personnel, is relatively fixed. Accordingly, if revenues decline
or do not grow as anticipated, we might not be able to correspondingly
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reduce our operating expenses. Failure to achieve anticipated levels of revenues could therefore significantly harm our operating results for a
particular fiscal period.
Due to the possibility of fluctuations in our revenues (on an absolute basis and relative to our expenses), we believe that quarter-to-quarter
comparisons of our operating results are not a good indication of our future performance.
We depend on third-party products and services and sole or limited sources of supply to manufacture some components of our Directed
Sorting products.
We rely on outside vendors to manufacture components and subassemblies used in our Directed Sorting products. Some of these
components and subassemblies are obtained from a single supplier or a limited group of suppliers. We depend on sole-source suppliers for the
mesh component of our reactors, the radio frequency, or RF tags used in our commercial products and the two-dimensional bar code tags used in
our NanoKan System. These materials are obtained from suppliers on standard commercial terms, and we do not have long-term supply
agreements with any of these suppliers. Our reliance on outside vendors generally, and a sole or limited group of suppliers in particular, involves
several risks, including:

•

the inability to obtain an adequate supply of required components due to manufacturing capacity constraints, a
discontinuance of a product by a third-party manufacturer or other supply constraints;

•

reduced control over quality and pricing of components; and

•

delays and long lead times in receiving materials from vendors.

We face restrictions on our ability to sell our NanoKan System to additional customers.
We have delivered and installed our NanoKan System for Aventis and Bristol-Myers Squibb. Under agreements with Aventis and Bristol-Myers
Squibb, we are prohibited from delivering the NanoKan System to any additional customers until October 6, 2001.
Our customers may restrict our use of scientific information, which could prevent us from using this information for additional revenue.
We plan to generate and use information that is not proprietary to our customers and that we derive from performing drug discovery services
for our customers. However, our customers may not allow us to use for our own purposes information such as the general interaction between
types of chemistries and types of drug targets that we generate when performing drug discovery services for them. Our current contracts restrict
our use of scientific information we generate for our customers, such as the biological activity of chemical compounds with respect to drug targets,
and future contracts also may restrict our use of scientific information. To the extent that our use of information is restricted, we may not be able
to collect and aggregate scientific data and take advantage of potential revenue opportunities.
Our operations could be interrupted by damage to our facilities.
Our results of operations are dependent upon the continued use of our highly specialized laboratories and equipment. Our operations are
primarily concentrated in facilities in San Diego, California, near San Francisco, California, near Basel, Switzerland, in Tucson, Arizona and in
Boulder, Colorado. Natural disasters, such as earthquakes, could damage our laboratories or equipment and these events may materially interrupt
our business. We maintain business interruption insurance to cover lost revenues caused by such occurrences. However, this insurance would not
compensate us for the loss of opportunity and potential adverse impact on relations with existing customers created by an inability to meet our
customers’ needs in a timely manner.
Energy shortages may adversely impact operations.
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California is currently experiencing shortages of electrical power and other energy sources. This condition has periodically resulted in rolling
blackouts, or the temporary and generally unannounced loss of the primary electrical power source. Our laboratory and other facilities in San Diego
and South San Francisco are powered by electricity. Currently, we do not have secondary electrical power sources to mitigate the impacts of
temporary or longer-term electrical outages. It is not anticipated that the power shortages will abate soon, and therefore, our operating facilities
may experience brownouts, blackouts, or other consequences of the shortages, and may be subject to usage restrictions or other energy
consumption regulations that could adversely impact or disrupt our research and development, manufacturing and other activities.
Risks Related to Operating in Our Industry
The concentration of the pharmaceutical industry and the current trend toward increasing consolidation could hurt our business
prospects.
The market for our products and services is highly concentrated, with approximately 50 large pharmaceutical companies conducting drug
discovery research. The continuation of the current trend toward consolidation of the pharmaceutical industry may reduce the number of our
potential customers even further. Accordingly, we expect that a relatively small number of customers will account for a substantial portion of our
revenues.
Additional risks associated with a highly concentrated customer base include:

•

fewer customers for our products and services;

•

larger companies may develop in-house technology and expertise rather than using our products and services;

•

larger customers may negotiate price discounts or other terms for our products and services that are unfavorable
to us; and

•

the market for our products and services may become saturated.

For example, because of the heavy concentration of the pharmaceutical industry and the high cost of our NanoKan System, we expect to sell
only a small number of NanoKan Systems before we saturate the market for this product. When we are no longer able to sell additional NanoKan
Systems, we will be dependent upon the sale of consumables for revenue from this product line. Similarly, there are signs that the market for our
AutoSort System is becoming saturated.
Our success will depend on the prospects of the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries and the extent to which these industries
use third-party assistance with one or more aspects of their drug discovery process.
Our revenues depend to a large extent on research and development expenditures by the pharmaceutical, biotechnology and agricultural
industries and companies in these industries outsourcing research and development projects. These expenditures are based on a wide variety of
factors, including the resources available for purchasing research equipment, the spending priorities among various types of research and policies
regarding expenditures during recessionary periods. General economic downturns in our customers’ industries or any decrease in research and
development expenditures could harm our operations. Any decrease in drug discovery spending by pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies
could cause our revenues to decline and adversely impact our profitability.
The drug discovery industry is competitive and subject to technological change, and we may not have the resources necessary to
compete successfully.
We compete with companies in the United States and abroad that engage in the development and production of drug discovery products and
services. These competitors include companies engaged in the following areas of drug discovery:
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•

Assay, development and screening, including Aurora Biosciences (being acquired by Vertex) and
Pharmacopeia;

•

Combinatorial chemistry instruments, including Argonaut and Bohdan;

•

Compound libraries and lead optimization, including Albany Molecular Research and Arqule; and

•

Informatics, including the MSI division of Pharmacopeia.

Academic institutions, governmental agencies and other research organizations also conduct research in areas in which we provide services,
either on their own or through collaborative efforts. Also, essentially all of our pharmaceutical company customers have internal departments which
provide some of the products and services which we sell, so these customers may have limited needs for our products and services. Many of our
competitors including Pharmacopeia have access to greater financial, technical, research, marketing, sales, distribution, service and other
resources than we do.

Moreover, the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries are characterized by continuous technological innovation. We anticipate that we
will face increased competition in the future as new companies enter the market and our competitors make advanced technologies available.
Technological advances or entirely different approaches that we or one or more of our competitors develop may render our products, services and
expertise obsolete or uneconomical. For example, advances in informatics and virtual screening may render some of our technologies, such as our
large compound libraries, obsolete. Additionally, the existing approaches of our competitors or new approaches or technologies that our
competitors develop may be more effective than those we develop. We may not be able to compete successfully with existing or future
competitors.
Our success will depend on our ability to attract and retain key executives, and experienced scientists and sales personnel.
Our future success will depend to a significant extent on our ability to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled scientists and sales personnel.
In addition, our business would be significantly harmed if we lost the services of Riccardo Pigliucci, our chief executive officer, or David Coffen,
our chief scientific officer. Our ability to maintain, expand or renew existing engagements with our customers, enter into new engagements and
provide additional services to our existing customers depends, in large part, on our ability to hire and retain scientists with the skills necessary to
keep pace with continuing changes in drug discovery technologies and sales personnel who are highly motivated. Additionally, it is difficult for us
to find qualified sales personnel in light of the fact that our sales personnel generally hold PhD’s. Our employees are “at will,” which means that
they may resign at any time, and we may dismiss them at any time. We believe that there is a shortage of, and significant competition for,
scientists with the skills and experience in the sciences necessary to perform the services we offer. We compete with pharmaceutical companies,
biotechnology companies, combinatorial chemistry and other “tools” companies, contract research companies and academic institutions for new
personnel. In addition, our inability to hire additional qualified personnel may require an increase in the workload for both existing and new
personnel. We may not be successful in attracting new scientists or sales personnel or in retaining or motivating our existing personnel.
The intellectual property rights we rely on to protect the technology underlying our products and techniques may not be adequate, which
could enable third parties to use our technology or very similar technology and could reduce our ability to compete in the market.
Our success will depend on our ability to obtain, protect and enforce patents on our technology and to protect our trade secrets. We also
depend, in part, on patent rights that third parties license to us. Any patents we own or license may not afford meaningful protection for our
technology and products. Other companies may challenge our patents or the patents of our licensors and, as a result, these patents could be
narrowed, invalidated or rendered unenforceable. In addition, current and future patent applications on which we depend may not result in the
issuance of patents in the United States or foreign countries. Competitors may develop products similar to ours which are not covered by our
patents. Further, since there is a substantial backlog of patent applications at the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, the approval or rejection of
our or our competitors’ patent applications may take several years.
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In addition to patent protection, we also rely on copyright protection, trade secrets, know-how, continuing technological innovation and
licensing opportunities. In an effort to maintain the confidentiality and ownership of our trade secrets and proprietary information, we require our
employees, consultants and advisors to execute confidentiality and proprietary information agreements. However, these agreements may not
provide us with adequate protection against improper use or disclosure of confidential information, and there may not be adequate remedies in the
event of unauthorized use or disclosure. Furthermore, like many technology companies, we may from time to time hire scientific personnel
formerly employed by other companies involved in one or more areas similar to the activities conducted by us. In some situations, our
confidentiality and proprietary information agreements may conflict with, or be subject to, the rights of third parties with whom our employees,
consultants or advisors have prior employment or consulting relationships. Although we require our employees and consultants to maintain the
confidentiality of all confidential information of previous employers, their prior affiliations may subject us or these individuals to allegations of trade
secret misappropriation or other similar claims. Finally, others may independently develop substantially equivalent proprietary information and
techniques, or otherwise gain access to our trade secrets. Our failure to protect our proprietary information and techniques may inhibit or limit our
ability to exclude certain competitors from the market.
The drug discovery industry has a history of intellectual property litigation and we may be involved in intellectual property lawsuits,
which may be expensive.
In order to protect or enforce our patent rights, we may have to initiate legal proceedings against third parties. In addition, others may sue us
for infringing their intellectual property rights, or we may find it necessary to initiate a lawsuit seeking a declaration from a court that we are not
infringing the proprietary rights of others. The patent positions of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and drug discovery companies are generally
uncertain. A number of pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology companies, independent researchers, universities and research institutions may
have filed patent applications or may have been granted patents that cover technologies similar to the technologies owned by, or licensed to, us or
our collaborators. A number of patents may have been issued or may be issued in the future that could cover certain aspects of our technology
and that could prevent us from using technology that we use or expect to use. In addition, we are unable to determine all of the patents or patent
applications that may materially affect our ability to make, use or sell any potential products. Legal proceedings relating to intellectual property
would be expensive, take significant time and divert management’s attention from other business concerns, no matter whether we win or lose. The
cost of such litigation could affect our profitability.
Further, an unfavorable judgment in an infringement lawsuit brought against us, in addition to any damages we might have to pay, could
require us to stop the infringing activity or obtain a license. Any required license may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. In
addition, some licenses may be nonexclusive, and therefore, our competitors may have access to the same technology that is licensed to us. If
we fail to obtain a required license or are unable to design around a patent, we may be unable to sell some of our products or services.
We may be subject to liability regarding hazardous materials.

Our products and services as well as our research and development processes involve the controlled use of hazardous materials. For
example, we sometimes use acids, bases, oxidants, and flammable materials. Acids include trifluoroacetic acid and hydrochloric acid, bases
include sodium hydroxide and triethylamine, oxidants include peracids and potassium permanganate, and flammable solvents include methanol,
hexane and tetrahydrofuran. We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and
disposal of such materials and certain waste products. We cannot completely eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury from these
materials. In the event of such an accident, we could be held liable for any damages that result, and any such liability could exceed our resources
and disrupt our business. In addition, we may have to incur significant costs to comply with environmental laws and regulations related to the
handling or disposal of such materials or waste products in the future, which would require us to spend substantial amounts of money.
Other Risks and Uncertainties
Our stock price likely will be volatile.
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The trading price of our common stock likely will be volatile and could be subject to fluctuations in price in response to various factors, many
of which are beyond our control, including:

•

actual or anticipated variations in quarterly operating results;

•

announcements of technological innovations by us or our competitors;

•

new products or services introduced or announced by us or our competitors;

•

changes in financial estimates by securities analysts;

•

conditions or trends in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or
capital commitments;

•

additions or departures of key personnel;

•

economic and political factors; and

•

sales of our common stock.

In addition, price and volume fluctuations in the stock market in general, and the NASDAQ National Market and the market for technology
companies in particular, have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of those companies. Further, the market prices
of securities of life sciences companies have been particularly volatile. Conditions or trends in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries
generally may cause further volatility in the trading price of our common stock, because the market may incorrectly perceive us as a
pharmaceutical or biotechnology company. These broad market and industry factors may harm the market price of our common stock, regardless
of our operating performance. In the past, plaintiffs have often instituted securities class action litigation following periods of volatility in the market
price of a company’s securities. A securities class action suit against us could result in potential liabilities, substantial costs and the diversion of
management’s attention and resources, regardless of whether we win or lose.
Our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders own a large percentage of our voting stock and could delay or prevent a
change in our corporate control or other matters requiring stockholder approval, even if favored by our other stockholders.
As of April 30, 2001, our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders, and their respective affiliates, beneficially own approximately
63.0% of our outstanding common stock. These stockholders, if acting together, would be able to control substantially all matters requiring
approval by our stockholders, including the election of all directors and approval of significant corporate transactions.
In addition, we have agreed to include, as director nominees, a number of nominees of Axys Pharmaceuticals, Inc. which is proportionate to
Axys’ percentage ownership of our shares. Axys, which owns approximately 31.0% of our common stock, currently has the right to nominate for
election two of seven directors, and Axys has agreed to vote all of its stock in favor of management’s annual slates of director nominees.
Because it is unlikely that we will pay dividends, our stockholders will only be able to benefit from holding our stock if the stock price
appreciates.
We have never paid cash dividends on our capital stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter and bylaws could make a third-party acquisition of us difficult.
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Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if doing so
would be beneficial to our stockholders. These provisions could limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our
common stock.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Short-term investments. Our interest income is sensitive to changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates, particularly since a significant
portion of our investments are and will be in short-term marketable securities. Due to the nature and maturity of our short-term investments, we
have concluded that there is no material market risk exposure.
Foreign currency rate fluctuations. The functional currency for the European operations of our IRORI group is the U.S. dollar, and the
functional currency for our Discovery Technologies group is the Swiss franc. Our subsidiary accounts are translated from their local currency to
the U.S. dollar using the current exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date for the balance sheet accounts, and using the average
exchange rate during the period for revenues and expense accounts. The effects of translation for the European operations of our IRORI group are
recorded as foreign currency gains (losses) in the consolidated statement of operations. The effects of translation for our Discovery Technologies
group are recorded as a separate component of stockholders’ equity (accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)). Our European subsidiaries
conduct their business with customers in local currencies. Exchange gains and losses arising from these transactions are recorded using the
actual exchange differences on the date of the transaction. We have not taken any action to reduce our exposure to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates, such as options or futures contracts, with respect to transactions with our European subsidiaries or transactions with our
worldwide customers. The net tangible assets of our two European subsidiaries combined were $7.5 million at March 31, 2001. A 1% decrease in
the value of the British pound and Swiss franc relative to the U.S. dollar would result in a foreign translation loss of $75,000.
Inflation. We do not believe that inflation has had a material impact on our business or operating results during the periods presented.
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PART II
OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings
None.
Item 2. Changes in Securities and Use of Proceeds
On August 1, 2000, we closed the sale of 5,000,000 shares of our Common Stock in our initial public offering, and on August 30, 2000 we
closed the sale of an additional 750,000 shares of Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of the underwriters’ overallotment option in the offering.
The shares of Common Stock sold in the offering were registered under the 1933 Act on a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 33336638) that was declared effective by the SEC on July 27, 2000. Since the inception of the public offering, the net offering proceeds have been
applied in conformity with our intended use outlined in the prospectus.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities
None.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
None.
Item 5. Other Information
None.
Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K
(a) Exhibits:

Exhibit
Number

2.3

2.4

10.22

Exhibit Description

Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated December 21, 2000 by and among us, SI Acquisition
Corporation, Systems Integration Drug Discovery Company, Inc., Bruce Seligmann and Karen Junghans,
Trustees of the Seligmann-Junghans Family Trust U/A/D July 9, 1999, Colin Dalton, Melvin Reisinger, Jr. and
High Throughput Genomics, Inc.
Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and among us, DPI Patents, Inc. and Xenometrix, Inc. dated
February 27, 2001. Certain schedules and exhibits referenced in the above agreement have been omitted in
accordance with Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule and/or exhibit will be
furnished supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
Patent License Agreement between us and Abbott Labs, Incorporated, dated January 2, 2001.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K:

We filed a Current Report on Form 8-K on January 26, 2001 to report an event of January 12, 2001: our
acquisition of Systems Integration Drug Discovery Company, Inc.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

DISCOVERY PARTNERS INTERNATIONAL, INC.

Date: May 10, 2001

By: /s/ Riccardo Pigliucci
Riccardo Pigliucci
Chief Executive Officer
(Duly Authorized Officer)

Date: May 10, 2001

By: /s/ Jack Fitzpatrick
Jack Fitzpatrick
Chief Financial Officer, Vice President Finance and
Administration and Secretary
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX
EXHIBIT
NUMBER

2.3+

EXHIBIT DESCRIPTION

Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated December 21, 2000 by and among us, SI Acquisition
Corporation, Systems Integration Drug Discovery Company, Inc., Bruce Seligmann and Karen
Junghans, Trustees of the Seligmann-Junghans Family Trust U/A/D July 9, 1999, Colin Dalton,
Melvin Reisinger, Jr. and High Throughput Genomics, Inc.

2.4**

10.22+

Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and among us, DPI Patents, Inc. and Xenometrix, Inc.
dated February 27, 2001. Certain schedules and exhibits referenced in the above agreement have
been omitted in accordance with Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule
and/or exhibit will be furnished supplementally to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon
request.
Patent License Agreement between us and Abbott Labs, Incorporated, dated January 2, 2001.

+ Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 27, 2001 and
incorporated herein by reference.
** Filed herewith.
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF REORGANIZATION
This Agreement and Plan of Reorganization (this "Agreement") is made and
entered into as of February 27, 2001, by and among Discovery Partners
International, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Parent"), DPI Patents, Inc., a
Delaware corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent ("Acquisition
Co."), and Xenometrix, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company").
RECITALS
A. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement and in
accordance with the Delaware General Corporation Law (the "DGCL"), Parent and
the Company will enter into a business combination transaction pursuant to which
Acquisition Co. will merge with and into the Company (the "Merger").
B. The Board of Directors of Parent (i) has determined that the Merger
is consistent with and in furtherance of the long-term business strategy of
Parent and fair to, and in the best interests of, Parent and its stockholders,

and (ii) has approved this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.
C. The Board of Directors of the Company (i) has determined that the
Merger is consistent with and in furtherance of the long-term business strategy
of the Company and fair to, and in the best interests of, the Company and its
stockholders and (ii) has approved this Agreement, the Merger and the other
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
D. Parent, Acquisition Co. and the Company desire to make certain
representations and warranties and other agreements in connection with the
Merger.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual
covenants and promises contained herein, and for other good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the
parties hereto agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
1.1 DEFINED TERMS. As used in this Agreement, the following defined
terms have the meanings indicated below:
"Acquisition Co." has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of
this Agreement.
"Actions or Proceedings" means any action, suit, proceeding,
arbitration, Order (as defined below), inquiry, hearing, assessment with respect
to fines or penalties or litigation (whether civil, criminal, administrative,
investigative or informal) commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or before,
or otherwise involving, any Governmental or Regulatory Authority (as defined
below).
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"Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, another Person that
directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, controls, is
controlled by or is under common control with such Person.
"Affiliated Group" means a group of corporations with which the Company
has filed (or was required to file) consolidated, combined, unitary or similar
Tax Returns.
"Affiliated Period" means any period in which the Company was a member
of an Affiliated Group.
"Aggregate Net Exercise Price" has the meaning set forth in Section
6.3(j).
"Agreement" has the meanings set forth in the first paragraph of this
Agreement and in Section 2.2.
"Assets and Properties" and "Assets or Properties" of any Person each
means all assets and properties of every kind, nature, character and description
(whether real, personal or mixed, whether tangible or intangible, whether
absolute, accrued, contingent, fixed or otherwise and wherever situated),
including the goodwill related thereto, operated, owned or leased by such
Person, including, without limitation, cash, cash equivalents, accounts and
notes receivable, chattel paper, documents, instruments, general intangibles,
real estate, equipment, inventory, goods and Intellectual Property.
"Benefit Plan" means any Plan established, arranged or maintained by the
Company or any corporate group of which the Company is or was a member, existing
at the Closing Date or prior thereto, to which the Company contributes or has
contributed, or under which any employee, officer, director or former employee,
officer or director of the Company or any beneficiary thereof is covered, is
eligible for coverage or has benefit rights.
"Books and Records"
instruments, papers, books,
stored on a computer's hard
records in any other medium

of any Person means all files, documents,
computer files (including but not limited to files
drive or on floppy disks), electronic files and
relating to the business, operations or condition of

such Person.
"Business Day" means a day other than Saturday, Sunday or any day on
which banks located in the State of California are authorized or obligated to
close.
"Cash Consideration" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(a).
"Certificate of Merger" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.
"Closing" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.10(a).
"Closing Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.10(a).
"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
"Company" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this
Agreement.
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"Company Common Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(a) of
this Agreement.
"Company Convertible Securities" has the meaning set forth in Section
3.2(b).
"Company Disclosure Schedule" means the disclosure schedule delivered to
Parent immediately prior to the execution of this Agreement, which sets forth
the exceptions to the representations and warranties contained in Article 3
hereof and certain other information called for by this Agreement.
"Company Financial Statements" has the meaning set forth in Section
3.9(c) of this Agreement.
"Company Stockholders" means all holders of Outstanding Company Common
Stock.
"Company Stock Option Plans" has the meaning set forth in Section
2.6(b)(iii) of this Agreement.
"Copyrights" has the meaning set forth in the definition of
"Intellectual Property."
"Damages" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.2(a).
"Defined Benefit Plan" means each Benefit Plan which is subject to Part
3 of Title I of ERISA, Section 412 of the Code or Title IV of ERISA.
"DGCL" has the meaning set forth in the first recital of this Agreement.
"Dissenting Shares" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7.
"Dissenting Stockholders" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7.
"Effective Time" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.
"Employment Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section
2.10(b)(viii).
"Encumbrances" means any mortgage, pledge, assessment, security
interest, deed of trust, lease, lien, adverse claim, levy, charge or other
encumbrance of any kind, or any conditional sale or title retention agreement or
other agreement to give any of the foregoing in the future.
"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as
amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
"ERISA Affiliate" means any entity which is a member of a "controlled
group of corporations" or which is or was under "common control" with the
Company as defined in Section 414 of the Code.

"Escrow Agent" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(c).
"Escrow Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(c).
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"Escrow Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.3.
"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
"Exchange Agent" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.8.
"Final Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.1(b).
"GAAP" means United States generally accepted accounting principles, as
currently in effect.
"Gene Expression Profiling Technology Patents" has the meaning set forth
in Section 7.4.
"Governmental or Regulatory Authority" means any court, tribunal,
arbitrator, authority, agency, commission, official or other instrumentality of
the United States or other country, any state, county, city or other political
subdivision.
"Harvard License" means that certain License Agreement dated September
1, 2000 between the President and Fellows of Harvard College and the Company.
"Inbound License Agreements" has the meaning set forth in Section
3.15(f).
"Indemnity Escrow Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(c).
"Intellectual Property" means (i) inventions (whether patentable or
unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice), all improvements thereto,
and all patents, patent applications and patent disclosures, together with all
reissuances, continuations, continuations-in-part, revisions, extensions and
reexaminations thereof (collectively, "Patents"); (ii) trademarks, service
marks, trade dress, logos, trade names and corporate names, together with all
translations, adaptations, derivations and combinations thereof and including
all goodwill associated therewith, and all applications, registrations and
renewals in connection therewith (collectively, "Trademarks"), (iii)
copyrightable works, all copyrights and all applications, registrations and
renewals in connection therewith and mask works and all applications,
registrations and renewals in connection therewith (collectively, "Copyrights");
(iv) trade secrets and confidential business information (including without
limitation, product specifications, data, know-how, inventions and ideas, past,
current and planned research and development, customer lists, current and
anticipated customer requirements, price lists, market studies, business plans,
financial statements, financial projections and budgets, historical and
projected sales, capital spending budgets and plans, the names of key personnel
and personnel training and techniques and materials), however documented; (v)
proprietary computer software and programs (including object code and source
code) and other proprietary rights and copies and tangible embodiments thereof
(in whatever form or medium); (vi) database technologies, systems, structures
and architectures (and related processes, formulae, compositions, improvements,
devices, know-how, inventions, discoveries, concepts, ideas, designs, methods
and information) and any other related information, however, documented; (vii)
any and all notes, analysis, compilations, studies, summaries, and other
material prepared by or for a Person containing or based, in whole or in part,
on any information included in the foregoing, however documented; (viii) all
industrial designs and any registrations and applications therefor; (ix) all
databases and data collections and all rights therein (items (iv)-(ix) shall be
referred to as "Trade Secrets and Other Proprietary
4
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Information"); and (x) any similar or equivalent rights to any of the foregoing
anywhere in the world.

"Interim Financial Statements" has the meaning set forth in Section
3.9(b).
"Knowledge of the Company" or "Known to the Company" means the knowledge
of any officer or director of the Company after due inquiry.
"Letter of Transmittal" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.8.
"Material Adverse Effect" means, for any Person, a
effect whether individually or in the aggregate (a) on the
financial condition, Assets and Properties, Liabilities or
Person, or (b) on the ability of such Person to consummate
contemplated hereby.

material adverse
business, operations,
prospects of such
the transactions

"Merger" has the meaning set forth in the first recital of this
Agreement.
"Order" means any writ, judgment, decree, injunction or similar order of
any Governmental or Regulatory Authority (in each such case whether preliminary
or final).
"Ordinary Course of Business" means the action of a Person that is
consistent with the past practices of such Person and is taken in the ordinary
course of the normal day-to-day operations of such Person.
"Outbound License Agreements" has the meaning set forth in Section
3.15(f).
"Outstanding Company Common Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section
2.6(a).
"Parent" has the meaning set forth in the first paragraph of this
Agreement.
"Parent Group" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.2(a).
"Patents" has the meaning set forth in the definition of "Intellectual
Property."
"Permits" means all licenses, permits, certificates of authority,
authorizations, approvals, registrations and similar consents granted or issued
by any Governmental or Regulatory Authority.
"Permitted Encumbrance" means (a) any Encumbrance for taxes not yet due
or delinquent or being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings for
which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP and (b)
any minor imperfection of title or similar Encumbrance which individually or in
the aggregate with other such Encumbrances does not impair the value of the
property subject to such Encumbrance or the use of such property in the conduct
of the business of the Company.
"Person" means any natural person, corporation, general partnership,
limited partnership, limited liability company, proprietorship, other business
organization, trust, union, association or Governmental or Regulatory Authority.
5
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"Plan" means any bonus, incentive compensation, deferred compensation,
pension, profit sharing, retirement, stock purchase, stock option, stock
ownership, stock appreciation rights, phantom stock, leave of absence, layoff,
vacation, day or dependent care, legal services, cafeteria, life, health,
accident, disability, workers' compensation or other insurance, severance,
separation or other employee benefit plan, practice, policy or arrangement of
any kind, whether written or oral, including, but not limited to, any "employee
benefit plan" within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA.
"Proxy Statement" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.30.
"Real Property" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.14.
"SEC" means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
"Stockholder Representatives" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.9.
"Software" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.15(k).
"Stock Certificates" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.8.
"Surviving Corporation" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.
"Qualified Plan" means each Benefit Plan which is intended to qualify
under Section 401 of the Code.
"Tax" (and, with correlative meaning, "Taxes," "Taxable" and "Taxing")
means (i) any federal, state, local or foreign income, alternative or add-on
minimum tax, gross income, gross receipts, sales, use, ad valorem, transfer,
franchise, profits, license, withholding, payroll, employment, excise,
severance, stamp, occupation, premium, property, environmental or windfall
profit tax, custom, duty or other tax, governmental fee or other like assessment
or charge of any kind whatsoever, together with any interest or any penalty,
addition to tax or additional amount imposed by any Governmental or Regulatory
Authority responsible for the imposition of any such tax (domestic or foreign),
(ii) any liability for payment of any amounts of the type described in (i) as a
result of being a member of an affiliated, consolidated, combined, unitary or
other group for any Taxable period and (iii) any liability for the payment of
any amounts of the type described in (i) or (ii) as a result of any express or
implied obligation to indemnify any other person.
"Tax Return" means any return, report, information return, schedule or
other document (including any related or supporting information) filed or
required to be filed with respect to any taxing authority with respect to Taxes.
"Third Party Expenses" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.9.
"Trademarks" has the meaning set forth in the definition of
"Intellectual Property."
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"Trade Secrets and Other Proprietary Information" has the meaning set
forth in the definition of "Intellectual Property."
1.2 CONSTRUCTION OF CERTAIN TERMS AND PHRASES. Unless the context of
this Agreement otherwise requires, (a) words of any gender include each other
gender; (b) words using the singular or plural number also include the plural or
singular number, respectively; (c) the terms "hereof," "herein," "hereby" and
derivative or similar words refer to this entire Agreement; (d) the terms
"Article" or "Section" refer to the specified Article or Section of this
Agreement; (e) the term "or" has, except where otherwise indicated, the
inclusive meaning represented by the phrase "and/or;" and (f) "including" means
"including without limitation." Whenever this Agreement refers to a number of
days, such number shall refer to calendar days unless Business Days are
specified. All accounting terms used herein and not expressly defined herein
shall have the meanings given to them under GAAP.
ARTICLE II
THE MERGER
2.1 THE MERGER. At the Effective Time and subject to and upon the terms
and conditions of this Agreement and the applicable provisions of the DGCL,
Acquisition Co. shall be merged with and into the Company, the separate
corporate existence of Acquisition Co. shall cease and the Company shall
continue as the surviving corporation. The Company as the surviving corporation
after the Merger is hereinafter sometimes referred to as the "Surviving
Corporation."
2.2 EFFECTIVE TIME. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, the
parties hereto shall cause the Merger to be consummated by filing a certificate
of merger substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the
"Certificate of Merger") with the Secretary of State of Delaware in accordance

with the relevant provisions of the DGCL (the time of such filing (or such later
time as may be agreed in writing by the parties and specified in the Certificate
of Merger) being the "Effective Time") as soon as practicable on the Closing
Date. Unless the context otherwise requires, the term "Agreement" as used herein
refers collectively to this Agreement and the Certificate of Merger.
2.3 EFFECT OF THE MERGER. At the Effective Time, the effect of the
Merger shall be as provided in this Agreement and the applicable provisions of
the DGCL. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and subject thereto,
at the Effective Time all the property, rights, privileges, powers and
franchises of the Company and Acquisition Co. shall vest in the Surviving
Corporation, and all debts, liabilities and duties of the Company and
Acquisition Co. shall become the debts, liabilities and duties of the Surviving
Corporation. The Surviving Corporation shall become a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Parent.
2.4 CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION; BYLAWS.
(a) At the Effective Time, the Certificate of Incorporation of
Acquisition Co. shall be the Certificate of Incorporation of the Surviving
Corporation, except that Article I thereof shall be amended to read in its
entirety as follows: "The name of the Corporation is Xenometrix, Inc."
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(b) At the Effective Time, the Bylaws of Acquisition Co. shall be
the Bylaws of the Surviving Corporation, except that the Bylaws shall be amended
to reflect that the name of the Surviving Corporation shall be "Xenometrix,
Inc."
2.5 DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS. The directors of Acquisition Co. immediately
prior to the Effective Time shall be the initial directors of the Surviving
Corporation, to serve until their respective successors are duly elected or
appointed. The officers of Acquisition Co. immediately prior to the Effective
Time shall be the initial officers of the Surviving Corporation, to serve until
their successors are duly elected or appointed.
2.6 EFFECT ON CAPITAL STOCK/MERGER CONSIDERATION.
(a) Conversion of Company Common Stock. Subject to Sections
2.6(c) and 6.3(j) below, at the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and
without any action on the part of any person, each share of the Company Common
Stock (assuming the issuance of Company Common Stock upon the conversion or
exercise, as the case may be, of all warrants, vested options and all other
Convertible Company Securities in accordance with Section 6.3(j) hereto) issued
and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (the "Outstanding
Company Common Stock") will be canceled and automatically converted into the
right to receive a ratable portion of Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars
($2,500,000) (the "Cash Consideration") upon surrender of the certificates
representing such shares. At the Effective Time, all rights in respect of such
Outstanding Company Common Stock shall cease to exist, other than the right to
receive the Cash Consideration, and all such shares shall be cancelled and
retired.
(b) Actions at the Effective Time. At the Effective Time:
(i)
Except for Dissenting Shares and the securities
referred to in Section 2.6(b)(ii) below, each share of Outstanding Company
Common Stock will automatically, by virtue of the Merger and without any action
on the part of the holder thereof, be canceled and converted into a right to
receive from Parent a portion of the Cash Consideration, in the amount as
determined pursuant to this Section 2.6.
(ii) Each share of Company Common Stock held in the
treasury of the Company shall be canceled and retired without payment of any
consideration therefor.
(iii) All unexercised options to purchase Company Common
Stock then outstanding under the Company's Employee Stock Option Plan and the
Company's Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (together, the "Company Stock
Option Plans") shall have been terminated in accordance with the terms of the
Company Stock Option Plans.

(iv)
Each outstanding share of common stock of Acquisition
Co. shall be converted into one (1) fully paid and non-assessable share of
common stock of the Surviving Corporation and such conversion shares shall
constitute the only shares of capital stock of the Surviving Corporation
outstanding immediately after the Effective Time.
(c) Cash Consideration Escrow Holdback. At the Closing, Parent
shall withhold Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($250,000) (the "Indemnity
Escrow Amount") from the Cash Consideration payable by Parent to the Company
Stockholders as a holdback for
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any indemnity claims that Parent and/or the Parent Group and/or Acquisition Co.
may have hereunder. The Indemnity Escrow Amount shall be deposited in escrow for
a period of twelve (12) months following the Closing Date in accordance with the
terms and provisions hereof and an Escrow Agreement among Parent, the
Stockholder Representatives (as defined below) and Wells Fargo Bank, National
Association (the "Escrow Agent") in the form attached hereto as Exhibit D (the
"Escrow Agreement"). Any and all claims, actions, or losses that Parent and/or
the Parent Group and/or Acquisition Co. may have against the Company or the
Company Stockholders, in the aggregate, shall be limited to and payable only up
to the limit of the Indemnity Escrow Amount and Parent and or the Parent Group
and/or Acquisition Co. shall have no other recourse for any claims, actions or
losses, whatsoever, in excess thereof. The foregoing does not release the
officers and directors of the Company, individually, for any actions against
such officers and directors for fraud or intentional breach by the Company of
any representation, warranty or covenant made by the Company in this Agreement.
2.7 DISSENTERS' RIGHTS. Any of the Outstanding Company Common Stock and
other capital stock that has not been voted for approval of this Agreement and
with respect to which a demand for payment and appraisal has been properly made
in accordance with the DGCL ("Dissenting Shares") will not be converted into the
right to receive the Cash Consideration otherwise payable with respect to such
Dissenting Shares at or after the Effective Time but will be converted into the
right to receive such consideration as may be determined to be due with respect
to such Dissenting Shares pursuant to the DGCL. If a holder of Dissenting Shares
("Dissenting Stockholder") withdraws his or her demand for such payment and
appraisal or becomes ineligible for such payment and appraisal, then, as of the
Effective Time or the occurrence of such event of withdrawal or ineligibility,
whichever last occurs, such holder's Dissenting Shares will cease to be
Dissenting Shares and will be converted into the right to receive, and will be
exchangeable for, the Cash Consideration into which such Dissenting Shares would
have been converted pursuant to Section 2.6 hereof. The Company will give Parent
and Acquisition Co. prompt notice of any demand received by the Company from a
holder of Dissenting Shares for appraisal of shares, and Parent shall have the
right to participate in, at its sole expense, all negotiations and proceedings
with respect to such demand. The Company agrees that, except with the prior
written consent of Parent and Acquisition Co., or as required under the DGCL, it
will not voluntarily make any payment with respect to, or settle or offer or
agree to settle, any such demand for appraisal. Each Dissenting Stockholder who,
pursuant to the provisions of the DGCL, becomes entitled to payment of the value
of the Dissenting Shares will receive payment therefor but only after the value
therefor has been agreed upon or finally determined pursuant to such provisions.
Any Cash Consideration that would have been issuable with respect to Dissenting
Shares will be retained by Parent.
2.8 EXCHANGE PROCEDURE.
(a) Promptly after the Effective Date, Parent shall cause
Computershare Trust Company, Inc. ("Exchange Agent") to mail to each holder of
record of a certificate or certificates which immediately prior to the Effective
Time represented shares of Outstanding Company Common Stock (the "Stock
Certificates") whose shares are being converted into the Cash Consideration
pursuant to Section 2.6 hereof (less any amount held in escrow pursuant to
Section 2.6(c) hereof), (i) a letter of transmittal (which shall specify that
delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss of the Stock Certificates shall
pass, only upon delivery of the Stock Certificates to the Exchange Agent and
which shall be in such form and have such other provisions as Parent may
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reasonably specify) (the "Letter of Transmittal") and (ii) instructions for use
in effecting the surrender of the Stock Certificates in exchange for the Cash
Consideration (less any amount held in escrow pursuant to Section 2.6(c)
hereof). Upon surrender of a Stock Certificate for cancellation to the Exchange
Agent or to such other agent or agents as may be appointed by Parent, together
with such letter of transmittal duly executed, the holder of such Stock
Certificate shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor the Cash
Consideration (less any amount held in escrow pursuant to Section 2.6(c) hereof)
to which the holder of Outstanding Company Common Stock is entitled pursuant to
Section 2.6 hereof. The Stock Certificate so surrendered shall forthwith be
canceled. No interest will accrue or be paid to the holder of any Outstanding
Company Common Stock. From and after the Effective Date, until surrendered as
contemplated by this Section 2.8, each Stock Certificate shall be deemed for all
corporate purposes to evidence the amount of the Cash Consideration into which
the shares of Outstanding Company Common Stock represented by such Stock
Certificate have been converted.
(b) The Cash Consideration delivered upon the surrender for
exchange of shares of Outstanding Company Common Stock in accordance with the
terms hereof shall be deemed to have been delivered in full satisfaction of all
rights pertaining to such Outstanding Company Common Stock. There shall be no
further registration of transfers on the stock transfer books of the Surviving
Corporation of Outstanding Company Common Stock which were outstanding
immediately prior to the Effective Date. If, after the Effective Date, Stock
Certificates are presented to the Surviving Corporation for any reason, they
shall be canceled and exchanged as provided in this Section 2.8.
(c) In the event that any Stock Certificates evidencing shares of
Outstanding Company Common Stock shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, the
Exchange Agent shall pay in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Stock
Certificates, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the holder
thereof, such Cash Consideration as may be required pursuant to Section 2.6
hereof; provided, however, that Parent may, in its discretion and as a condition
precedent to the issuance thereof, require the owner of such lost, stolen or
destroyed Stock Certificates to deliver a bond in such sum as it may reasonably
direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against Parent or the
Exchange Agent with respect to the Stock Certificates alleged to have been lost,
stolen or destroyed.
(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 2.8,
none of the Exchange Agent, the Surviving Corporation or any party hereto shall
be liable to a holder of shares of Outstanding Company Common Stock for any
amount properly paid to a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned
property, escheat or similar law.
2.9 ADDITIONAL ESCROW AND INDEMNITY PROVISIONS. By their approval of the
Merger, each of the Company Stockholders will be conclusively deemed to have
consented to and approved, as applicable: (i) the Escrow Agreement as to any
funds to which such Company Stockholder may be entitled from the Indemnity
Escrow Amount; (ii) the appointment of Stephen J. Sullivan and John K.A.
Prendergast as the representatives of the Company Stockholders, (the
"Stockholder Representatives") and as the attorneys-in-fact and agents for and
on behalf of each Company Stockholder as provided in this Agreement and the
Escrow Agreement; and (iii) the taking by the Stockholder Representatives of any
and all reasonable and lawful actions taken in good faith and the making of any
reasonable and lawful decisions, made in good faith, required or permitted to be
taken by the Stockholder Representatives under this
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Agreement and under the Escrow Agreement. The Stockholder Representatives will
have authority and power to act on behalf of each Company Stockholder with
respect to the disposition, settlement or other handling of (a) indemnity claims
under Article VIII and (b) all claims governed by the Escrow Agreement, and all
rights or obligations arising under the Escrow Agreement so long as all Company
Stockholders are treated in a consistent manner in accordance with their
interests and/or consent in writing to different treatment. Each Company
Stockholder will be bound by all reasonable and lawful actions taken in good

faith by the Stockholder Representatives as to any funds to which such Company
Stockholder may be entitled from the Indemnity Escrow Amount in connection with
indemnity claims under Article VIII and the Escrow Agreement, and Parent will be
entitled to rely on any reasonable and lawful action or decision, taken or made
in good faith, of the Stockholder Representatives in connection therewith.
Except as to any funds to which such Company Stockholder may be entitled from
the Indemnity Escrow Amount for the settlement of claims under Article VIII or
the Escrow Agreement for an aggregate for all Company Stockholders of no more
than the Indemnity Escrow Amount, the Stockholder Representatives do not have
and will not have any authority to obligate the Company Stockholders' rights to
receive the "Merger Consideration" in any manner or for any circumstance, claim
or otherwise. The Stockholder Representatives do not have and will not have any
authority to enter into any agreement or agreements relating to claims under
Article VIII or the Escrow Agreement that would obligate the Company
Stockholders to pay any amount other than from the Indemnity Escrow Amount, or
an aggregate amount, together with amounts paid in settlement of all other such
claims, in excess of the Indemnity Escrow Amount. Any ultra vires act of the
Stockholder Representatives shall be null and void.
2.10

CLOSING.

(a) Time and Place. The consummation of the Merger under this
Agreement (the "Closing") shall take place at the offices of Brobeck, Phleger &
Harrison LLP, 12390 El Camino Real, San Diego, California 92130, at 10:00 a.m.
on May 1, 2001, or at such time and in such manner as the parties mutually agree
(the "Closing Date").
(b) Closing Deliveries by the Company. At the Closing, the
Company shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Parent and/or Acquisition Co.,
as the case may be:
(i)

the Certificate of Merger, duly executed by the

(ii)

the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by the Company;

Company;

(iii) a certificate of an officer of the Company
substantially in the form of Exhibit G attached hereto, duly executed by the
Company;
(iv) a certificate of the Secretary of the Company
substantially in the form of Exhibit H attached hereto, certifying as of the
Closing Date (A) a true and complete copy of the Certificate of Incorporation of
the Company certified as of a recent date by the Secretary of State of Delaware,
(B) a true and complete copy of the Bylaws of the Company, (C) a certificate of
each appropriate Secretary of State certifying the good standing of the Company
in its state of incorporation and all states in which it is qualified to do
business, (D) a true and complete copy of the resolutions of the board of
directors of the Company and the resolutions of the stockholders of the Company,
each authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of
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this Agreement by the Company and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated hereby and (E) incumbency matters;
(v)
a certificate of an officer of the Company
identifying and providing payment instructions with respect to all expenses and
payments to be made by Parent that the Company is electing to have paid by
reduction of the Cash Consideration at Closing;
(vi)
a certificate of an officer of the Company
substantially in the form of Exhibit N attached hereto, certifying that the
conditions specified in Section 6.3(j) have been fulfilled and setting forth a
true and complete list of all Company Convertible Securities converted into or
exercised for shares of Company Common Stock by net exercise thereof.
(vii) resignation letter of each of the officers and
directors of the Company, dated effective as of the Closing;
(viii) an employment agreement by and between Parent and
Pauline Gee, substantially in the form of Exhibit F attached hereto (the

"Employment Agreement"), duly executed by Pauline Gee;
(ix)
an opinion of Allen, Matkins, Leck, Gamble & Mallory
LLP, counsel to the Company, substantially in the form attached hereto as
Exhibit I;
(x)
evidence satisfactory to Parent in its sole
discretion that all stock options have either been exercised for shares of
Company Common Stock or have been terminated; and
(xi)
such other documents as Parent may reasonably request
for the purpose of facilitating the consummation of the transactions
contemplated herein.
(c) Closing Deliveries By Parent. At the Closing, Parent and/or
Acquisition Co., as the case may be, shall deliver or cause to be delivered:
(i)

to the Company and/or the Company Stockholders, as the

case may be:
(A) the Certificate of Merger, duly executed by
Acquisition Co.;
(B) the Escrow Agreement, duly executed by Parent;
(C) a certificate of an officer of each of Parent and
Acquisition Co., substantially in the forms of Exhibit J-1 and Exhibit J-2
attached hereto, duly executed by each of Parent and Acquisition Co., as
applicable;
(D) a certificate of the Secretary of each of Parent
and Acquisition Co. substantially in the forms of Exhibit K-1 and Exhibit K-2
attached hereto, certifying as of the Closing Date (A) a true and complete copy
of the resolutions of the board of directors of Parent and Acquisition Co.,
respectively, authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this
Agreement by Parent and Acquisition Co., respectively, and the consummation of
the transactions contemplated hereby and (B) incumbency matters; and
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(E) an opinion of Brobeck, Phleger & Harrison LLP,
counsel to Parent, substantially in the form attached hereto as Exhibit E.
(ii) to the Exchange Agent, the Cash Consideration less (A)
the Indemnity Escrow Amount, and (B) the Aggregate Net Exercise Price; and
(iii) to the Escrow Agent, the Indemnity Escrow Amount.
ARTICLE III
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
OF THE COMPANY
The Company represents and warrants to Parent and Acquisition Co. as of
the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, except as set forth on the Company
Disclosure Schedule furnished to Parent specifically identifying the relevant
subparagraph hereof, as follows:
3.1 ORGANIZATION OF THE COMPANY. The Company is a corporation duly
organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of Delaware and
is duly qualified to do business and in good standing as a foreign corporation
in each jurisdiction in which the failure to be so qualified would have a
Material Adverse Effect on the Company. The Company has full power and
authority, and holds all Permits and authorizations necessary, to carry on its
business and to own and use the Assets and Properties owned and used by the
Company, except where the failure to have such power and authority or to hold
such Permits or authorizations would not have a Material Adverse Effect on the
Company. Except as set forth in the Company SEC Reports (as defined below in
Section 3.9), the Company does not directly or indirectly own any equity or
similar interest in, or any interest convertible into or exchangeable or
exercisable for any interest in, any corporation, partnership, joint venture or
other business association or entity other than the securities of any

publicly-traded entity held for investment only and constituting less than 5% of
the outstanding capital stock of any such entity. The Company has delivered or
made available a true and correct copy of its charter documents and
organizational documents, each as amended to date, to counsel for Parent.
3.2 COMPANY CAPITAL STRUCTURE.
(a) The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of (i)
20,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share ("Company Common
Stock"), of which 3,354,829 shares are issued and outstanding as of the date
hereof; (ii) no shares of capital stock of the Company in treasury; and (iii)
5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share, all of which is
undesignated and none of which is issued and outstanding as of the date hereof.
Each share of issued and outstanding Company Common Stock is duly authorized,
validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.
(b) Section 3.2(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth,
as of the date of this Agreement, a list and description of all subscriptions,
options, warrants, calls, commitments and other rights of any kind for the
purchase or acquisition of, and any securities convertible or exchangeable for,
Company Common Stock (collectively, the "Company Convertible Securities"),
including the holder thereof, the number of shares of Company Common Stock
subject thereto, the exercise price, date of grant, vesting schedule and
expiration
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date thereof and any terms regarding the acceleration of vesting thereof. Such
list also describes any repricing of Company Convertible Securities that has
taken place since the Company's inception.
(c) All Company Convertible Securities shall have been exercised,
converted or terminated, as the case may be, as of the Closing Date, and there
will be no outstanding Company Convertible Securities as of the Closing Date.
All shares of Company Common Stock that may be issued upon the exercise or
conversion of such Company Convertible Securities will (upon issuance in
accordance with their terms) be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid,
nonassessable and free of all preemptive rights.
(d) There are no agreements to which the Company is a party or by
which it is bound with respect to the voting (including voting trusts or
proxies), registration under the Securities Act, or sale or transfer (including
agreements relating to preemptive rights, rights of first refusal, co-sale
rights or "drag-along" rights) of any securities of the Company. To the
Knowledge of the Company, other than the Voting Agreements to be entered into
between Parent and those stockholders of the Company set forth on Schedule 1
hereto, there are no agreements among other parties, to which the Company is not
a party and by which it is not bound, with respect to the voting (including
voting trusts or proxies) or sale or transfer (including agreements relating to
rights of first refusal, co-sale rights or "drag-along" rights) of any
securities of the Company.
3.3 OWNERSHIP OF COMPANY CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES. Each holder of the
Company Convertible Securities owns beneficially and of record that amount of
the Company Convertible Securities listed opposite such holder's name in Section
3.2(b) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, free and clear of all Encumbrances,
and has good and valid title to such securities.
3.4 AUTHORITY OF THE COMPANY. The Company has all requisite corporate
power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby. The execution and delivery of this Agreement
and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly
authorized by all necessary corporate action on the part of the Company, subject
only to the approval of the Merger by the vote of the holders of a majority of
the Company Common Stock. This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and
delivered by the Company and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation
of the Company enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms
except (i) as limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
moratorium and other laws of general application affecting enforcement of
creditors' rights generally and (ii) as limited by laws relating to the
availability of specific performance, injunctive relief or other equitable
remedies.

3.5 NO AFFILIATES. The Company does not have any Affiliates or
subsidiaries and is not a partner in any partnership or a party to any joint
venture.
3.6 NO CONFLICTS. The execution and delivery by the Company of this
Agreement does not, and the performance by the Company of its obligations under
this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will
not:
14
20
(a) conflict with or result in a violation or breach of any of
the terms, conditions or provisions of the charter documents, bylaws or other
organizational documents of the Company;
(b) conflict with or result in a violation or breach of any term
or provision of any law, Order, Permit, statute, rule or regulation applicable
to the Company, the business or Assets or Properties of the Company or the
Company Common Stock or Company Convertible Securities;
(c) result in a breach of, or default under (or give rise to
right of termination, cancellation or acceleration) under any of the terms,
conditions or provisions of any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, license,
agreement, lease or other similar instrument or obligation to which the Company,
any of its Assets and Properties or the Company Common Stock or Company
Convertible Securities may be bound, except for such breaches or defaults as set
forth in Section 3.6(c) of the Company Disclosure Schedule as to which requisite
waivers or consents will have been obtained by the Closing Date; or
(d) result in an imposition or creation of any Encumbrance on the
business or Assets or Properties of the Company or the Company Common Stock.
3.7 CONSENTS AND GOVERNMENTAL APPROVALS AND FILINGS. No consent,
approval, order or authorization of, or registration, declaration or filing
with, any Governmental or Regulatory Authority is required by or with respect to
the Company in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or
the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, except for (i) the
filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Delaware Secretary of State, (ii)
the filing of the Proxy Statement with the SEC in accordance with the Exchange
Act, (iii) such consents, approvals, Orders, authorizations, registrations,
declarations and filings as may be required under applicable federal and state
securities laws and the laws of any foreign country and (iv) such other
consents, authorizations, filings, approvals and registrations which, if not
obtained or made, would not have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company or
Parent.
3.8 BOOKS AND RECORDS. The minute books and other corporate records of
the Company as made available to Parent contain a true and complete record of
all actions taken at all meetings and by all written consents in lieu of
meetings of the stockholders, the boards of directors and committees of the
boards of directors of the Company. The stock transfer ledgers and other similar
records of the Company accurately reflect all issuances and record transfers in
the capital stock of the Company. The other Books and Records of the Company are
true, correct and complete.
3.9 SEC FILINGS; COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.
(a) The Company has filed all forms, reports and documents
required to be filed with the SEC since December 31, 1997 and has made available
to Parent, in the form filed with the SEC, (i) its Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1998, June 30, 1999 and June 30, 2000, (ii)
its Quarterly Reports on Form 1O-Q for the periods ended September 30, 2000 and
December 31, 2000, (iii) all proxy statements relating to the Company's meetings
of stockholders (whether annual or special) held since December 31, 1997, (iv)
all other reports or registration statements filed by the Company with the SEC
since December 31,
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1997, and (v) all amendments and supplements to all such reports and
registration statements filed by the Company with the SEC. All such required
forms, reports and documents (including those enumerated in clauses (i) through
(v) of the preceding sentence are referred to herein as the "Company SEC
Reports." As of their respective dates, the Company SEC Reports (i) were
prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act, as the case may be, and the rules and regulations of the SEC
thereunder applicable to such Company SEC Reports, and (ii) did not at the time
they were filed (or if amended or superseded by a filing prior to the date of
this Agreement, then on the date of such filing) contain any untrue statement of
a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein
or necessary in order to make the statements therein, in the light of the
circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.
(b) The Company has previously delivered to Parent its unaudited
balance sheet and the related unaudited statements of operations, changes in
stockholders' equity and cash flows for the six month period ended December 31,
2000 (the "Interim Financial Statements").
(c) Each of the financial statements (including, in each case,
any related notes thereto) contained in the Company SEC Reports and the Interim
Financial Statements (the "Company Financial Statements"), including any Company
SEC Reports filed after the date hereof until the Closing, (i) complied as to
form in all material respects with applicable accounting requirements and the
published rules and regulations of the SEC with respect thereto when filed, (ii)
were prepared in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout
the periods covered thereby (except as may be indicated therein or in the notes
thereto, and in the case of quarterly financial statements, as permitted by Form
10-Q under the Exchange Act), (iii) fairly present the consolidated financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of the
respective dates thereof and for the periods referred to therein, and (iv) are
consistent with the Books and Records of the Company.
(d) The Company has heretofore furnished to Parent a complete and
correct copy of any amendments or modifications, which have not yet been filed
with the SEC but which are required to be filed, to agreements, documents or
other instruments which previously had been filed by the Company with the SEC
pursuant to the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
3.10 ABSENCE OF CHANGES. Since December 31, 2000, except with respect to
the actions contemplated by this Agreement, the Company has not:
(a) issued any stock, bonds or other corporate securities or any
right, options or warrants with respect thereto;
(b) borrowed any amount, obtained any letters of credit or
incurred or become subject to any liabilities in excess of Twenty-Five Thousand
Dollars ($25,000) in the aggregate;
(c) discharged or satisfied any lien or Encumbrance or paid any
obligation or liability, other than current liabilities paid in the Ordinary
Course of Business and other than current federal income Tax liabilities;
(d) declared or made any payment or distribution of cash or other
property to stockholders with respect to its stock, or purchased or redeemed any
shares of its capital stock;
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(e) mortgaged or pledged any of its Assets or Properties, or
subjected them to any lien, charge or any other Encumbrance, except liens for
current property Taxes not yet due and payable;
(f) sold, leased, subleased, assigned or transferred any of its
Assets or Properties, except in the Ordinary Course of Business, or cancelled
any debts or claims;
(g) made any changes in any employee compensation, severance or
termination agreement, commitment or transaction other than routine salary
increases consistent with past practice or offered employment to any
individuals;

(h) entered into any material transaction, or modified any
existing transaction the aggregate consideration for which is in excess of
Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000);
(i) suffered any damage, destruction or casualty loss, whether or
not covered by insurance;
(j) made any capital expenditures, additions or improvements or
commitments for the same, except those made in the Ordinary Course of Business
which in the aggregate do not exceed Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($25,000);
(k) entered into any transaction or operated the Company's
business not in the Ordinary Course of Business;
(l) made any change in its accounting methods or practices or
ceased making accruals for Taxes, obsolete inventory, vacation and other
customary accruals;
(m) ceased from reserving cash to pay Taxes, principal and
interest on borrowed funds, and other customary expenses and payments;
(n) caused to be made any revaluation of any of its Assets or
Properties;
(o) caused to be entered into any amendment or termination of any
lease, customer or supplier contract or other material contract or agreement to
which it is a party, other than in the Ordinary Course of Business;
(p) made any material change in any of its business policies,
including, without limitation, advertising, distributing, marketing, pricing,
purchasing, personnel, sales, returns, budget or product acquisition or sale
policies;
(q) terminated or failed to renew, or received any written threat
(that was not subsequently withdrawn) to terminate or fail to renew, any
contract or other agreement that is or was material to the Company's business or
its financial condition;
(r) observed any other event or condition of any character which
has had a Material Adverse Effect on the Company;
(s) waived any rights material to its financial or business
condition;
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(t) made any illegal payment or rebates; or
(u) entered into any agreement to do any of the foregoing.
3.11 NO UNDISCLOSED LIABILITIES. Except as disclosed in the Company
Financial Statements, there are no liabilities (whether known or unknown,
whether asserted or unasserted, whether absolute or contingent, whether accrued
or unaccrued, whether liquidated or unliquidated, and whether due or to become
due, including but not limited to any liability for Taxes), nor any basis for
any claim against the Company for any such liabilities, relating to or affecting
the Company or any of its Assets and Properties, other than such liabilities
incurred after December 31, 2000 in the Ordinary Course of Business which have
not had, and could not reasonably be expected to result in, individually or in
the aggregate, a Material Adverse Effect on the Company.
3.12 TANGIBLE PERSONAL PROPERTY. The Company is in possession of and has
good and marketable title to, or has valid leasehold interests in or valid
rights under written agreements to use, all tangible personal property,
equipment, plants, buildings, structures, facilities and all other Assets and
Properties used in or reasonably necessary for the conduct of the Company's
business, including all tangible personal property reflected on the Company
Financial Statements and any tangible personal property acquired since December
31, 2000, other than property disposed of since such date in the Ordinary Course
of Business. All such tangible personal property, equipment, plants, buildings,
structures, facilities and all other Assets and Properties are listed in Section

3.12 of the Company Disclosure Schedule and are free and clear of all
Encumbrances, other than Permitted Encumbrances. All tangible personal property
and equipment used by the Company in its business as currently conducted are
structurally sound with no known material defects and are in good operating
condition and repair (subject to normal wear and tear) so as to permit the
operation of its business as presently conducted, no such equipment or tangible
personal property is in need of maintenance or repairs except for ordinary,
routine maintenance and repairs which are not material in nature or cost, and
with respect to each item of equipment and tangible personal property, the
Company has not received notification that it is in violation, in any material
respect, of any applicable building, zoning, subdivision, fire protection,
health or other law, Order, ordinance or regulation, and no such violation
exists.
3.13 BENEFIT PLANS; ERISA.
(a) Section 3.13(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule lists each
Benefit Plan together with a brief description of the type of plan and benefit
provided thereunder. The Company has no commitment, proposal, or communication
to employees regarding the creation of an additional Benefit Plan or any
increase in benefits under any Benefit Plan. The Company has provided to Parent
(i) a copy of each Benefit Plan (including amendments) or, where substantially
similar arrangements exist, a sample copy and a list of persons participating in
such arrangement, (ii) the three (3) most recent annual reports on the Form 5500
series for each Benefit Plan required to file such report and (iii) the most
recent trustee's report for each Benefit Plan funded through a trust. For
purposes of this Section 3.13, the term "the Company" shall include any ERISA
Affiliate of the Company.
(b) All Benefit Plans conform (and at all times have conformed)
in all material respects to, and are being administered and operated (and have
at all time been administered and
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operated) in material compliance with, the requirements of ERISA, the Code and
all other applicable laws or governmental regulations. All returns, reports and
disclosure statements required to be made under ERISA and the Code with respect
to all Benefit Plans have been timely filed or delivered. There have not been
any "prohibited transactions," as such term is defined in Section 4975 of the
Code or Section 406 of ERISA involving any of the Benefit Plans that could
subject the Company to any material penalty or Tax imposed under the Code or
ERISA.
(c) Each Qualified Plan has been determined by the Internal
Revenue Service to be so qualified or an application for such determination is
pending. Any such determination that has been obtained remains in effect and has
not been revoked, and with respect to any application that is pending, the
Company has no reason to suspect that such application for determination will be
denied. To the Company's Knowledge, nothing has occurred since the date of any
such determination that is reasonably likely to affect adversely such
qualification or exemption, or result in the imposition of excise Taxes or
income Taxes on unrelated business income under the Code or ERISA with respect
to any Benefit Plan.
(d) The Company does not sponsor a defined benefit plan subject
to Title IV of ERISA, nor does it have a current or contingent obligation to
contribute to any multiemployer plan (as defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA). The
Company does not have any liability with respect to any employee benefit plan
(as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) other than with respect to the Benefit
Plans.
(e) There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company,
threatened claims by or on behalf of any Benefit Plans, or by or on behalf of
any individual participants or beneficiaries of any Benefit Plans, alleging any
breach of fiduciary duty on the part of the Company or any of its officers,
directors or employees under ERISA or any other applicable regulations, or
claiming benefit payments (other than those made in the ordinary operation of
such plans), nor is there, to the knowledge of the Company, any basis for such
claim. The Benefit Plans are not the subject of any pending (or to the knowledge
of the Company, any threatened) investigation or audit by the Internal Revenue
Service, the Department of Labor or the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation

("PBGC").
(f) The Company has timely made all required contributions under
the Benefit Plans, including the payment of any premiums payable to the PBGC and
other insurance premiums.
(g) With respect to any Benefit Plan that is an employee welfare
benefit plan (within the meaning of Section 3(1) of ERISA) (a "Welfare Plan"),
(i) each such Welfare Plan for which contributions are claimed by the Company as
deductions under any provision of the Code is in material compliance with all
applicable requirements pertaining to such deduction, (ii) with respect to any
welfare benefit fund (within the meaning of Section 419 of the Code) related to
such a Welfare Plan, there is no disqualified benefit (within the meaning of
Section 4976(b) of the Code) that would result in the imposition of a Tax under
Section 4976(a) of the Code, (iii) any Benefit Plan that is a group health plan
(within the meaning of Section 4980B(g)(2) of the Code) complies, and in each
and every case has complied, with all of the applicable material requirements of
Section 4980B of the Code, ERISA, Title XXII of the Public Health Service Act
and the Social Security Act, and (iv) all such Welfare Plans may be amended or
terminated at
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any time on or after the Closing Date. No Benefit Plan provides any health, life
or other welfare coverage to employees of the Company beyond termination of
their employment with the Company by reason or retirement or otherwise, other
than coverage as may be required under Section 4980B of the Code or Part 6 of
ERISA, or under the continuation of coverage provisions of the laws of any state
or locality.
(h) The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement will not, either immediately or upon the occurrence of any event
thereafter, (i) entitle any current or former employee or officer or director of
the Company to severance pay, unemployment compensation or any other payment, or
(ii) accelerate the time of payment or increase the amount of compensation
otherwise due any such individual.
3.14 REAL PROPERTY. The Company does not own any real property. Section
3.14 of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a complete and accurate legal
description of each parcel of real property leased by the Company (as lessee or
lessor) (the "Real Property") and all Encumbrances (other than Permitted
Encumbrances) relating to or affecting the Real Property. The Company has a
valid leasehold interest in all real property used in or relating to the conduct
of the Company's business, free and clear of all Encumbrances other than
Permitted Encumbrances. The Company has rights of ingress and egress with
respect to such real property, and all buildings, structures, facilities,
fixtures and other improvements thereon that are material for the operation of
the Company's business. There is no pending, and to the Knowledge of the
Company, there is no contemplated or threatened condemnation of any of the
respective parcels of the Real Property or any part thereof. None of the Real
Property, or buildings, structures, facilities, fixtures or other improvements
thereon, or the use thereof, contravenes or violates any building, zoning, fire
protection, administrative, occupational safety and health or other applicable
law, rule, or regulation except for any contravention or violation which
individually or in the aggregate could not reasonably be expected to result in a
Material Adverse Effect on the Company. Each lease with respect to the Real
Property is a legal, valid and binding agreement of the Company subsisting in
full force and effect, and except as set forth in Section 3.14 of the Company
Disclosure Schedule, there is no, and the Company has not received notice of
any, default (or any condition or event which, after notice or lapse of time or
both, would constitute a default) thereunder. The leases in effect allow the
particular use of the premises involved, and no provision of any lease prohibits
or unduly limits the Company's ability to conduct its business so as to have a
Material Adverse Effect on the Company if enforced.
3.15 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS.
(a) Generally. Section 3.15(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule
sets forth, for the Intellectual Property owned, in whole or in part, including
jointly with others (such schedule specifies if such Intellectual Property is
owned jointly), by the Company, a complete and accurate list of all United
States and foreign (1) Patents and Patent applications; (2) Trademark

registrations and applications; (3) Copyright registrations and applications, if
any, indicating for each listing required by subsections (1)-(3), the applicable
jurisdiction, registration number (or application number) and date issued (or
date filed).
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(b) Trademarks.
(i)
All of the Company's Trademarks are currently in
compliance with all legal requirements (including the timely post-registration
filing of affidavits of use and incontestability and renewal applications),
other than any requirement that, if not satisfied, would not result in a
cancellation of any such registration or otherwise affect the priority and
enforceability of the Trademark in question.
(ii)
None of the Company's registered Trademarks has been
within the last three (3) years or is now involved in any opposition or
cancellation proceeding in the United States Patent and Trademark Office, and no
such action has been threatened in writing within the one (1)-year period prior
to the date of this Agreement.
(iii) To the Knowledge of the Company, there has been no
prior use of any of the Company's Trademarks by any third party that confers
upon said third party superior rights in any such Trademark.
(iv)
The Company's registered Trademarks have been
continuously used in the form appearing in, and in connection with the goods and
services listed in, their respective registration certificates or renewal
certificates, as the case may be.
(c) Copyrights.
(i)
All of the Company's Copyrights, if any, are
currently in compliance with all legal requirements, other than any requirement
that, if not satisfied, would not result in a cancellation of any registration
or otherwise affect the enforceability of the Copyright in question.
(ii)
None of the Company's registered Copyrights, if any,
has been within the last three (3) years or is now involved in any proceeding in
any court of law challenging the Company's rights in any such Copyright, and no
such action has been threatened in writing within the one (1)-year period prior
to the date of this Agreement.
(iii) To the Knowledge of the Company, there has been no
prior use of any of the Company's Copyrights, if any, by any third party that
confers upon said third party superior rights in any such Copyright.
(d) Patents.
(i)
All of the Company's Patents are currently in
compliance with legal requirements (including payment of filing, examination,
and maintenance fees and proofs of working or use), other than any requirement
that, if not satisfied, would not result in a revocation or lapse or otherwise
affect the enforceability of the Patent in question.
(ii)
None of the Company's Patents has been or is now
involved in any interference, reissue, reexamination or opposing proceeding in
the United States Patent and Trademark Office or any foreign patent office, and
no such action has been threatened in writing within the one (1)-year period
prior to the date of this Agreement, with the exception of the oppositions
identified in Section 3.15(d)(ii) of the Company Disclosure Schedule.
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(iii) To the Knowledge of the Company, there is no Patent
of any person that claims the same subject matter as any Patent of the Company
or invalidates any claim of any Patent of the Company.

(e) Trade Secrets and Other Proprietary Information. Section
3.15(e) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list of employees,
consultants, contractors and other entities who have executed proprietary
information and confidentiality agreements substantially in the Company's
standard forms and a list of employees, consultants, contractors and other
entities who have not executed such proprietary information and confidentiality
agreements. Except under confidentiality obligations, to the Knowledge of the
Company, there has been no disclosure by the Company of its confidential
information or Trade Secrets and Other Proprietary Information. The Company has
taken all reasonable steps necessary to enforce the proprietary information and
confidentiality agreements that have been entered into by its employees,
consultants, contractors and other entities.
(f) License Agreements. Section 3.15(f)(1) of the Company
Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and accurate list of all license
agreements granting to the Company any right to use or practice any rights under
any Intellectual Property other than over-the-counter "shrink wrap" software but
including all such agreements that are otherwise material to the Company
(collectively, the "Inbound License Agreements"), indicating for each the title
and the parties thereto and the Intellectual Property that is licensed
thereunder. Section 3.15(f)(2) of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets forth a
complete and accurate list of all license agreements under which the Company
grants licenses or other rights in or to use or practice any rights under any
Intellectual Property (collectively, the "Outbound License Agreements"),
indicating for each the title and the parties thereto and the Intellectual
Property that is licensed thereunder. There is no outstanding or, to the
Knowledge of the Company, threatened dispute or disagreement with respect to any
Inbound License Agreement or any Outbound License Agreement.
(g) Ownership and Other Rights; Sufficiency of Intellectual
Property Assets. To the Company's Knowledge, it owns or possesses adequate
licenses, re-marketing or sublicensing rights, or other rights to use, free and
clear of Encumbrances, Orders and arbitration awards, all of the Intellectual
Property used in its business. The Intellectual Property identified in Section
3.15(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, together with the Company's Trade
Secrets and Other Proprietary Information and the Company's unregistered
Copyrights and rights granted to the Company under the Inbound License
Agreements, constitute all the Intellectual Property rights and Inbound License
Agreements used in the operation of the Company's business as it is currently
conducted and to the Knowledge of the Company are all such Intellectual Property
rights and Inbound License Agreements necessary to operate such business after
the Effective Time in substantially the same manner as such business has been
operated by the Company prior thereto.
(h) No Infringement by the Company. To the knowledge of the
Company, the products used, manufactured, marketed, sold or licensed by the
Company, and all Intellectual Property used in the conduct of the Company's
business as currently conducted, do not infringe upon, violate or constitute the
unauthorized use of any rights owned or controlled by any third party, including
any Intellectual Property of any third party.
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(i) No Pending or Threatened Infringement Claims. No litigation
is now or, within the three (3) years prior to the date of this Agreement, was,
pending, and no notice or other claim in writing has been received by the
Company, (1) alleging that the Company has engaged in any activity or conduct
that infringes upon, violates or constitutes the unauthorized use of the
Intellectual Property rights of any third party or (2) challenging the
ownership, use, validity or enforceability of any Intellectual Property owned or
exclusively licensed by or to the Company. No Intellectual Property that is
owned or licensed by the Company is subject to any outstanding Order,
stipulation or agreement restricting the use thereof by the Company or, in the
case of Intellectual Property licensed by the Company to others, restricting the
sale, transfer, assignment or licensing thereof by the Company to any Person.
(j) No Infringement by Third Parties. To the Knowledge of the
Company, no third party is misappropriating, infringing, diluting or violating
any Intellectual Property owned or licensed by the Company, and no such claims
have been brought against any third party by the Company.
(k) Software. The Software (as defined below) owned or purported

to be owned by the Company, was either (i) developed by employees of the Company
within the scope of their employment; (ii) developed by independent contractors
who have validly assigned all of their rights in such Software to the Company;
or (iii) otherwise acquired by the Company from a third party. To the Company's
Knowledge, such Software does not contain any programming code, documentation or
other materials or development environments that embody Intellectual Property
rights of any person other than the Company, except for such materials or
development environments obtained by the Company from other Persons that make
such materials or development environments generally available to all interested
purchasers or end-users on standard commercial terms. For purposes of this
Section 3.15(k), "Software" means any and all (i) computer programs, including
any and all software implementations of algorithms, models and methodologies,
whether in source code or object code, (ii) databases and compilations,
including any and all data and collections of data, whether machine readable or
otherwise, (iii) descriptions, schematics, flow-charts and other work product
used to design, plan, organize and develop any of the foregoing, and (iv) all
documentation, including user manuals and training materials, relating to any of
the foregoing.
3.16 PROPRIETARY INFORMATION OF THIRD PARTIES. No third party has
claimed or, to the Knowledge of the Company, has reason to claim that any Person
employed by or affiliated with the Company in connection with and during the
Company's ownership and operation of its business has (i) violated or may be
violating any of the terms or conditions of such Person's employment,
non-competition or non-disclosure agreement with such third party, (ii)
disclosed or may be disclosing or utilized or may be utilizing any Trade Secret
or Other Proprietary Information or documentation of such third party, or (iii)
interfered or may be interfering in the employment relationship between such
third party and any of its present or former employees. No third party has
requested information from the Company which relates to such a claim.
3.17 LITIGATION. Except as set forth in Section 3.17 of the Company
Disclosure Schedule, there are no Actions or Proceedings pending or, to the
Knowledge of the Company, threatened or anticipated against, relating to or
affecting (i) the Company, its Assets and Properties or its business, or (ii)
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and, to the Knowledge of the
Company, there is no basis for any such Action or Proceeding. The Company
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is not in default with respect to any Order, and there are no unsatisfied
judgments against the Company.
3.18 COMPLIANCE WITH LAW. The Company is in compliance with all
applicable laws, statutes, Orders, ordinances and regulations, whether federal,
state, local or foreign, except where the failure to comply, in each instance
and in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse Effect on the Company. The Company has not received any written notice
to the effect that, or otherwise has been advised that, the Company is not in
compliance with any of such laws, statutes, Orders, ordinances or regulations,
where the failure to comply could reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse Effect on the Company.
3.19 CONTRACTS.
(a) Section 3.19 of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a
true and complete list of each of the following contracts, agreements or other
arrangements to which the Company is a party or by which any of its Assets and
Properties is bound (and, to the extent oral, accurately describes the terms of
such contracts, agreements and arrangements):
(i)

any Plan;

(ii)
any employment or consulting agreement, contract or
commitment with any officer or director level employee not terminable by the
Company at will without liability, except to the extent general principles of
wrongful termination law may limit the Company's ability to terminate employees
at will;
(iii) any agreement or plan, including, without limitation,
any stock option plan, stock appreciation right plan or stock purchase plan, any
of the benefits of which will be increased, or the vesting of benefits of which

will be accelerated, by the occurrence of any of the transactions contemplated
by this Agreement or the value of any of the benefits of which will be
calculated on the basis of any of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement,
(iv)
any agreement of indemnification or guaranty not
entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business involving potential payments in
excess of $25,000 individually or in the aggregate;
(v)
any agreement, contract or commitment containing any
covenant limiting the freedom of the Company to engage in any line of business
or compete with any Person;
(vi)
any agreement, contract or commitment relating to
capital expenditures and involving future obligations in excess of $25,000;
(vii) any agreement, contract or commitment relating to the
disposition or acquisition of Assets or Properties not in the Ordinary Course of
Business or any ownership interest in any corporation, partnership, joint
venture or other business enterprise;
(viii) any mortgages, indentures, loans or credit
agreements, security agreements or other agreements or instruments relating to
the borrowing of money or extension of credit;
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(ix)
any joint marketing or development agreement
(excluding agreements with resellers, value added resellers or independent
vendors entered into in the Ordinary Course of Business that do not permit such
resellers or vendors to modify the Company's products),
(x)
any distribution agreement (identifying any that
contain exclusivity provisions);
(xi)
any other agreement, contract or commitment
(excluding real and personal property leases) which involves payment by the
Company of $25,000 or more and is not cancelable without penalty within thirty
(30) days;
(xii) all subscription or other agreements related to the
equity ownership of the Company; and
(xiii) all contracts or commitments that in any way grants a
third party a right of first refusal for the purchase of the Company or any of
its Assets or Properties.
(b) A correct and complete copy of each contract, agreement or
other arrangement disclosed in the Company Disclosure Schedule has been
previously provided to Parent. Each contract, agreement or other arrangement
disclosed in the Company Disclosure Schedule is in full force and effect and to
the Company's Knowledge constitutes a legal, valid and binding agreement,
enforceable in accordance with its terms, of the Company, and to the Knowledge
of the Company, the other parties thereto, and the Company has performed all of
its required obligations under, and is not in violation or breach of or default
under, any such contract, agreement or arrangement. To the Knowledge of the
Company, the other parties to any such contract, agreement or arrangement are
not in violation or breach of or default under any such contract, agreement or
arrangement.
3.20 ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS.
(a) The Company is in compliance with all applicable
"Environmental Laws" (as defined below) and there are no circumstances which may
materially prevent or interfere with such compliance in the future. The Company
has not received any communication (whether written or oral), whether from a
Governmental or Regulatory Authority, citizen group, employee or otherwise, that
alleges that the Company or any of the Assets or Properties used in the
Company's business is not in full compliance with Environmental Laws. All
Permits, registrations and other governmental authorizations currently held by
the Company pursuant to Environmental Laws (collectively, "Environmental
Permits") are identified in Section 3.20(a) of the Company Disclosure Schedule

and represent all such Permits necessary for the conduct of its business as
currently conducted. The Company has not been notified by any relevant
Governmental or Regulatory Authority that any Environmental Permit will be
modified, suspended or revoked or cannot be renewed in the Ordinary Course of
Business, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no Environmental Permit will be
modified, suspended or revoked, or cannot be renewed in the Ordinary Course of
Business of the Company.
(b) There is no "Environmental Notice" (as defined below) that is
(i) pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company
or (ii) to the Knowledge of the Company, pending or threatened against any
Person whose liability for such Environmental
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Notice may have been retained or assumed by or could reasonably be imputed or
attributed to the Company.
(c) There are no past or present actions, activities,
circumstances, conditions, events or incidents arising from the operation,
ownership or use of any Assets or Properties currently or formerly owned,
operated or used by the Company (or any entity formerly an Affiliate of the
Company), including, without limitation, the release, emission, discharge or
disposal of any "Material" (as defined below) into the "Environment" (as defined
below), that (i) could reasonably be expected to result in the incurrence of
costs under Environmental Laws or (ii) could reasonably be expected to form the
basis of any Environmental Notice against or with respect to the Company or
against any Person whose liability for any Environmental Notice may have been
retained or assumed by or could be imputed or attributed to the Company.
(d) Without in any way limiting the generality of the foregoing,
(i) all underground storage tanks, and the capacity and contents of such tanks,
located on property at any time owned, leased or used by the Company are
identified in Section 3.20(d) of the Company Disclosure Schedule, (ii) there is
no asbestos contained in or forming part of any building, building component,
structure or office space owned, leased or used by the Company, (iii) no
polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB's) are used or stored on any property owned,
leased or used by the Company and (iv) all locations currently or formerly
owned, leased or used by the Company (or any current or former Affiliate of the
Company) at which any Material generated, used, owned or controlled by the
Company or any current or former Affiliate of the Company (or by any previous
owner or operator) may have been disposed of or released into the Environment
are identified and described in Section 3.20(d) of the Company Disclosure
Schedule.
(e) For purposes of this Section 3.20:
(i)
"Environment" means any surface water, ground water,
drinking water supply, land surface or subsurface strata, ambient air and any
indoor workplace.
(ii)
"Environmental Notice" means any written notice by
any Person alleging potential liability (including, without limitation,
potential liability for investigatory costs, cleanup costs, governmental costs,
harm or damages to person, property, natural resources or other fines or
penalties) arising out of, based on or resulting from (a) the emission,
discharge, disposal, release or threatened release in or into the Environment of
any Material or (b) circumstances forming the basis of any violation, or alleged
violation, of any applicable Environmental Law.
(iii) "Environmental Laws" means all national, state, local
and foreign laws, codes, regulations, common law, requirements, directives,
Orders, and administrative or judicial interpretations thereof, all as in effect
on the date hereof or on the Closing Date, that may be enforced by any
Governmental or Regulatory Authority relating to pollution, the protection of
the Environment or the emission, discharge, disposal, release or threatened
release of Materials in or into the Environment.
(iv)
"Material" means pollutants, contaminants or
chemical, industrial, hazardous, radioactive or toxic materials or wastes,
including, without limitation, petroleum and petroleum products.
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3.21 INVENTORY. The inventory of the Company is in good and merchantable
condition, and is suitable and usable at its carrying value in the Ordinary
Course of Business for the purposes for which it is intended. To the Knowledge
of the Company, there is no material adverse condition affecting the supply of
materials available to the Company. All inventories used in or relating to the
conduct of the Company's business are owned by the Company free and clear of any
Encumbrances.
3.22 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE. The accounts receivable and all other
receivables shown on the Company Financial Statements (subject to reserves for
non-collectibility as reflected therein, which reserves (if any) are in
accordance with GAAP), and all receivables acquired or generated by the Company
since December 31, 2000 are bona fide receivables and represent amounts due with
respect to actual, arms-length transactions entered into in the Ordinary Course
of Business of the Company and are legal, valid and binding obligations of the
obligors therefor.
3.23 RESTRICTIONS ON BUSINESS ACTIVITIES. There is no material
agreement, judgment, injunction, Order or decree binding upon the Company which
has or could reasonably be expected to have the effect of prohibiting or
materially impairing any material current business practice of the Company, any
acquisition of assets or properties by the Company or the conduct of business by
the Company as currently conducted or as proposed to be conducted by the
Company.
3.24 INSURANCE. Set forth in Section 3.24 of the Company Disclosure
Schedule is a complete and accurate list of all primary, excess and umbrella
policies, bonds and other forms of insurance currently owned or held by or on
behalf of and/or providing insurance coverage to the Company or the Assets and
Properties of the Company (or any of the Company's directors, officers,
salespersons, agents or employees), including the following information for each
such policy: type(s) of insurance coverage provided; name of insurer; effective
dates; termination dates; policy number; per-occurrence and annual aggregate
deductibles or self-insured retentions; per-occurrence and annual aggregate
limits of liability and the extent, if any, to which the limits of liability
have been exhausted. All policies set forth on the Company Disclosure Schedule
are in full force and effect, and with respect to such policies, all premiums
currently payable or previously due have been paid, and no notice of
cancellation or termination has been received with respect to any such policy.
All such policies are sufficient for compliance with all requirements of law and
all agreements to which the Company is a party or otherwise bound, and are
valid, outstanding policies and, to the Knowledge of the Company, provide
adequate insurance coverage for the Company and the business and Assets and
Properties of the Company and will remain in full force and effect through the
respective dates set forth in the Company Disclosure Schedule. None of such
policies contains a provision that would permit the termination, limitation,
lapse, exclusion or change in the terms of coverage of such policy (including,
without limitation, a change in the limits of liability) by reason of the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Complete and
accurate copies of all such policies and related documentation have previously
been provided to the Parent.
3.25 TAX MATTERS.
(a) The Company has filed on a timely basis all Tax Returns that
it was required to file, and as of the applicable date of filing all such Tax
Returns were complete and accurate in all material respects. The Company is not
and has never been a member of a group of
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corporations with which it has filed (or been required to file) consolidated,
combined or unitary Tax Returns. The Company has paid on a timely basis all
Taxes that were due and payable. The unpaid Taxes of the Company for tax periods
through December 31, 2000 do not exceed the accruals and reserves for Taxes
(excluding accruals and reserves for deferred Taxes established to reflect
timing differences between book and Tax income) set forth on the Company

Financial Statements. The Company has no actual or potential liability for any
Tax obligation of any other taxpayer (including any affiliated group of
corporations or other entities that included the Company during a prior period).
All Taxes that the Company is or was required by law to withhold or collect have
been duly withheld or collected and, to the extent required, have been paid to
the proper Governmental or Regulatory Authority.
(b) The Company has delivered to Parent complete and accurate
copies of all federal income Tax Returns, examination reports and statements of
deficiencies assessed against or agreed to by the Company. None of the federal
income Tax Returns of the Company have been audited. All other federal income
Tax Returns of the Company for all taxable years through June 30, 1997 are
closed by the applicable statute of limitations. The Company has delivered or
made available to Parent complete and accurate copies of all other Tax Returns
of the Company, together with all related examination reports and statements of
deficiency for all periods from and after incorporation. No examination or audit
of any Tax Return of the Company by any Governmental Entity is currently in
progress or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened or contemplated. The
Company has not been informed by any jurisdiction that the jurisdiction believes
that the Company was required to file any Tax Return that was not filed. The
Company has not waived any statute of limitations with respect to Taxes or
agreed to an extension of time with respect to a Tax assessment or deficiency.
(c) The Company is not a "consenting corporation" within the
meaning of Section 341(f) of the Code, and none of its assets is subject to an
election under Section 341(f) of the Code. The Company has not been a United
States real property holding corporation within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2)
of the Code during the applicable period specified in Section 897(c)(l)(A)(ii)
of the Code. The Company has not made any payments, is not obligated to make any
payments, and is not a party to any agreement that could obligate it to make any
payments that may be treated as an "excess parachute payment" under Section 280G
of the Code. It has no actual or potential liability for any Taxes of any Person
(other than the Company) under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or any
similar provision of federal, state, local, or foreign law), or as a transferee
or successor, by contract, or otherwise. It is not and has not been required to
make a basis reduction pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-20(b) or
Treasury Regulation Section 1.337(d)-2(b).
(d) None of the assets of the Company: (i) is property that is
required to be treated as being owned by any other Person pursuant to the
provisions of former Section 168(f)(8) of the Code; (ii) is "tax-exempt use
property" within the meaning of Section 168(h) of the Code; or (iii) directly or
indirectly secures any debt the interest on which is tax exempt under Section
103(a) of the Code.
(e) The Company has not undergone a change in its method of
accounting resulting in an adjustment to its taxable income pursuant to Section
481 of the Code
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(f) Section 3.25(g) of the
the most recent practicable date, (i) the
Properties and (ii) the amount of any net
unused investment or other credit, unused
contribution allocable to the Company.

Disclosure Schedule sets forth, as of
basis of the Company in its Assets and
operating loss, net capital loss,
foreign tax, or excess charitable

3.26 LABOR AND EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS. To the Knowledge of the Company, no
officer, executive or group of five (5) or more employees of the Company has or
have any plans to terminate his, her or their employment with the Company. The
Company is not a party to or bound by any collective bargaining agreement with
any labor organization, group or association covering any of its employees, and
to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no attempts to organize any of the
Company's employees by any person, unit or group seeking to act as their
bargaining agent. The Company has complied with all applicable laws relating to
the employment of labor, including provisions thereof relating to wages, hours,
equal opportunity, collective bargaining, discrimination against race, color,
national origin, religious creed, physical or mental disability, sex, age,
ancestry, medical condition, marital status or sexual orientation, and the
withholding and payment of social security and other Taxes. There are no pending
or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened charges (by employees, their
representatives or governmental authorities) of unfair labor practices or of

employment discrimination or of any other wrongful action with respect to any
aspect of employment of any Person employed or formerly employed by the Company.
To the Knowledge of the Company, no union representation elections relating to
the Company's employees have been scheduled by any Governmental or Regulatory
Authority, no organizational effort is being made with respect to any of such
employees, and no investigation of the Company's employment policies or
practices by any Governmental or Regulatory Authority is pending or threatened.
The Company is not currently, and in the past has not been, involved in labor
negotiations with any unit or group seeking to become the bargaining unit for
any employees of the Company. The Company has never experienced any work
stoppage and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no work stoppage has been
threatened or is planned.
3.27 CERTAIN EMPLOYEES. Set forth in Section 3.27 of the Company
Disclosure Schedule is a list of the names of the Company's employees and
consultants as of the date hereof involved in the management and operation of
the Company's business, together with the title or job classification of each
such Person and the total compensation (with wages and bonuses, if any,
separately detailed) paid in 2000 and the current rate of pay for each such
person on the date of this Agreement. None of such Persons has an employment
agreement or understanding, whether oral or written, with the Company which is
not terminable at will by the Company without cost or other liability to the
Company.
3.28 CHANGE OF CONTROL PAYMENTS. Section 3.28 of the Company Disclosure
Schedule sets forth the terms pursuant to which all amounts may become payable
(whether currently or in the future) to current or former officers, directors or
employees of the Company as a result of or in connection with the Merger.
3.29 CUSTOMERS. Section 3.29 of the Company Disclosure Schedule sets
forth a true and correct list of the Company's current customers and the
Company's customers during the 1998, 1999 and 2000 fiscal years related to the
Company's business. Since January 1, 2000, no single customer or group of
affiliated customers contributing more than Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) per
annum to the gross revenues of the Company's business has stopped doing
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business with the Company, and no such customer has given notice to the Company
of an intention to discontinue doing business or reduce the level of gross
revenues from that in fiscal year 2001 with the Company.
3.30 PROXY STATEMENT. The information supplied by the Company for
inclusion in the definitive proxy statement to be sent to the stockholders of
the Company in connection with the meeting of the Company's stockholders to
consider the Merger (the "Company Stockholders' Meeting") (such proxy statement
as amended or supplemented is referred to herein as the "Proxy Statement") shall
not, on the date the Proxy Statement is first mailed to the Company's
stockholders, at the time of the Company Stockholders' Meeting or at the
Effective Time, contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary in order to make
the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made,
not false or misleading; or omit to state any material fact necessary to correct
any statement in any earlier communication with respect to the solicitation of
proxies for the Company Stockholders' Meeting which has become false or
misleading. The Proxy Statement will comply as to form in all material respects
with the provisions of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations
thereunder. If at any time prior to the Effective Time any event relating to the
Company or any of its Affiliates, officers or directors should be discovered by
the Company which should be set forth in a supplement or amendment to the Proxy
Statement, the Company shall promptly inform Parent. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Company makes no representation or warranty with respect to any
information supplied by Parent or Acquisition Co. which is contained in any of
the foregoing documents.
3.31 BANK ACCOUNTS. Section 3.31 of the Company Disclosure Schedule
contains a complete and accurate list of each deposit account or asset
maintained by or on behalf of the Company with any bank, brokerage house or
other financial institution, specifying with respect to each the name and
address of the institution, the name under which the account is maintained, the
account number, and the name and title or capacity of each Person authorized to
have access thereto.

3.32 PERMITS. Section 3.32 of the Company Disclosure Schedule contains a
true and complete list of all Permits used in that are material, individually or
in the aggregate, to the Company's business. All such Permits are currently
effective and valid and have been validly issued. No additional Permits are
necessary to enable the Company to conduct its business in material compliance
with all applicable federal, state and local laws. Neither the execution,
delivery or performance of this Agreement nor the mere passage of time will have
any effect on the continued validity or sufficiency of the Permits, nor will any
additional Permits be required by virtue of the execution, delivery or
performance of this Agreement to enable the Company to conduct its business as
now operated. To the Knowledge of the Company, there is no pending Action or
Proceeding by any Governmental or Regulatory Authority which could affect the
Permits or their sufficiency for the current conduct of the Company's business
or of the conduct of the Company's business after the Closing. The Company has
provided Parent with true and complete copies of all Permits listed in the
Company Disclosure Schedule.
3.33 THIRD PARTY CONSENTS. No consent, approval or authorization of any
third party on the part of the Company is required in connection with the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereunder except as otherwise
provided in Section 3.33 of the Company Disclosure Schedule.
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3.34 BROKERS. The Company has not retained any broker in connection with
the transactions contemplated hereunder. Parent has, and will have, no
obligation to pay any broker's, finder's, investment banker's, financial
advisor's or similar fee in connection with this Agreement or the transactions
contemplated hereby by reason of any action taken by or on behalf of the
Company.
3.35 BOARD APPROVAL. The Board of Directors of the Company has, prior to
the date hereof, unanimously approved this Agreement and the Merger and has
heretofore adopted the resolutions set forth in Section 3.35 of the Company
Disclosure Schedule.
3.36 MATERIAL MISSTATEMENTS AND OMISSIONS. The statements,
representations and warranties of the Company contained in this Agreement
(including the exhibits and schedules hereto) and in each document, statement,
certificate or exhibit furnished or to be furnished by or on behalf of the
Company pursuant hereto, or in connection with the transactions contemplated
hereby, taken together, do not contain and will not contain any untrue statement
of a material fact and do not or will not omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements or facts contained herein or therein, in light
of the circumstances made, not misleading.
ARTICLE IV
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND ACQUISITION CO.
Parent and Acquisition Co., jointly and severally, represent and warrant
to the Company as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date, as follows:
4.1 ORGANIZATION. Parent is a corporation duly organized, validly
existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of the Delaware.
Acquisition Co. is a corporation duly organized, validly existing, and in good
standing under the laws of the State of Delaware.
4.2 AUTHORITY. Each of Parent and Acquisition Co. has all necessary
corporate power and corporate authority and has taken all corporate actions
necessary to enter into this Agreement, to consummate the transactions
contemplated hereby and to perform its respective obligations hereunder and no
other proceedings on the part of Parent or Acquisition Co. are necessary to
authorize this Agreement or to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby.
This Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by each of
Parent and Acquisition Co. and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation
of Parent and Acquisition Co., respectively, enforceable against each of Parent
and Acquisition Co. in accordance with its terms except (i) as limited by
applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other laws of
general application affecting enforcement of creditors' rights generally and
(ii) as limited by laws relating to the availability of specific performance,

injunctive relief or other equitable remedies.
4.3 LITIGATION. There are no Actions or Proceedings pending or, to the
Knowledge of Parent or Acquisition Co., threatened or anticipated against,
relating to or affecting the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and,
to the Knowledge of Parent or Acquisition Co., there is no basis for any such
Action or Proceeding.
4.4 REPORTS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. Parent has previously furnished or
made available to the Company complete and accurate copies, as amended or
supplemented, of its
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(a) Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2000 as filed with the SEC and
(b) all other reports filed by Parent under Section 13 or subsections (a) or (c)
of Section 14 of the Exchange Act with the SEC (such reports are collectively
referred to herein as the "Parent Reports"). The Parent Reports constitute all
of the documents required to be filed by Parent under Section 13 or subsections
(a) or (c) of Section 14 of the Exchange Act with the SEC since the date of its
initial public offering through the date of this Agreement. The Parent Reports
have been duly filed, were in compliance in all material respects with the
requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations thereunder when
filed, and were complete and correct in all material respects as of the dates at
which the information therein was furnished. As of their respective dates, the
Parent Reports did not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading. The unaudited interim financial statements of Parent included in
the Parent Reports (i) complied as to form in all material respects with
applicable accounting requirements and the published rules and regulations of
the SEC with respect thereto when filed, (ii) were prepared in accordance with
GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods covered thereby
(except as may be indicated therein or in the notes thereto, and in the case of
quarterly financial statements, as permitted by Form 10-Q under the Exchange
Act), (iii) fairly present the consolidated financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of Parent as of the respective dates thereof and for
the periods referred to therein, and (iv) are consistent with the books and
records of Parent.
4.5 BROKERS. Neither Parent nor Acquisition Co. has retained any broker
in connection with the transactions contemplated hereunder. The Company does not
have, and will not have, any obligation to pay any broker's, finder's investment
banker's, financial advisor's or similar fee in connection with this Agreement
or the transactions contemplated hereby by reason of any action taken by or on
behalf of Parent or Acquisition Co.
ARTICLE V
COVENANTS
5.1 OPERATION OF BUSINESS PRIOR TO EFFECTIVE TIME. Between the date
hereof and the Effective Time, the Company will operate its business in the
Ordinary Course of Business and, to the extent consistent therewith, with no
less diligence and effort than would be applied in the absence of this
Agreement, use all commercially reasonable efforts to seek to preserve intact
its current business organizations, keep available the service of its current
officers and employees and preserve its relationships with customers, suppliers,
distributors, lessors, creditors, employees, contractors and others having
business dealings with it with the intention that its goodwill and ongoing
businesses shall be unimpaired at the Effective Time. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, except as otherwise expressly provided in this
Agreement, prior to the Effective Time:
(a) the Company shall not do any of the following without the
prior written consent of Parent:
(i)

amend its Certificate of Incorporation or bylaws;
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(ii)
except as set forth in the Company Disclosure
Schedule, authorize for issuance, issue, sell, deliver or agree or commit to
issue, sell or deliver (whether through the issuance or granting of options,
warrants, commitments, subscriptions, rights to purchase or otherwise) any stock
of any class or any other debt or equity securities or equity equivalents
(including any stock options or stock appreciation rights);
(iii) split, combine or reclassify any shares of its
capital stock, declare, set aside or pay any dividend or other distribution
(whether in cash, stock or property or any combination thereof) in respect of
its capital stock, make any other actual, constructive or deemed distribution in
respect of its capital stock or otherwise make any payments to stockholders in
their capacity as such, or redeem or otherwise acquire any of its securities or
any securities other than shares repurchased from employees at their original
cost;
(iv)
adopt a plan of complete or partial liquidation,
dissolution, merger, consolidation, restructuring, recapitalization or other
reorganization of the Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than the Merger)
or otherwise permit the corporate existence of the Company or the rights or
franchises or any license, permit or authorization under which its business
operates to be suspended, lapsed or revoked;
(v)

create or form any subsidiary;

(vi)
(A) incur or assume any long-term or short-term debt
or issue any debt securities except for borrowings under existing lines of
credit in the Ordinary Course of Business, or modify or agree to any amendment
of the terms of any of the foregoing; (B) assume, guarantee, endorse or
otherwise become liable or responsible (whether directly, contingently or
otherwise) for the obligations of any other person except for obligations of
subsidiaries of the Company incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business; (C)
make any loans, advances or capital contributions to or investments in any other
person; (D) pledge or otherwise encumber shares of capital stock of the Company;
or (E) mortgage or pledge any of its assets, tangible or intangible, or create
or suffer to exist any Encumbrances thereupon;
(vii) except as may be required by law, enter into, adopt
or amend or terminate any bonus, profit sharing, compensation, severance,
termination, stock option, stock appreciation right, restricted stock,
performance unit, stock equivalent, stock purchase agreement, pension,
retirement, deferred compensation, employment, health, life, or disability
insurance, dependent care, severance or other employee benefit plan agreement,
trust, fund or other arrangement for the benefit or welfare of any director,
officer or employee in any manner or increase in any manner the compensation or
fringe benefits of any director, officer or employee or pay any benefit not
required by any plan and arrangement as in effect as of the date hereof
(including the granting of stock appreciation rights or performance units);
(viii) hire additional employees of the Company, materially
increase the compensation of employees, or enter into employment agreements or
contracts, except in the Ordinary Course of Business;
(ix)
(A) acquire, sell, lease, license, transfer or
otherwise dispose of any assets in any single transaction or series of related
transactions having a fair market value in excess of Ten Thousand Dollars
($10,000) in the aggregate or that are otherwise material to the
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Company, other than sales of its products and licenses of software (other than
exclusive licenses) in the ordinary course of business consistent with past
practices, or (B) enter into any exclusive license, distribution, marketing,
sales or other agreement; provided, however, that if Parent has not disapproved
of the Company's proposal to enter into a license transaction within five (5)
Business Days following receipt of notice from the Company describing in detail
the proposed terms of and parties to such license transaction, then Parent shall
be deemed to have approved of such transaction provided that it is entered into
on the terms and with the parties as described in the notice;

(x)
except as may be required as a result of a change in
law or in generally accepted accounting principles, change any of the accounting
principles, practices or methods used by it;
(xi)
revalue any of its assets, including writing down the
value of inventory or writing-off notes or accounts receivable;
(xii) (A) acquire (by merger, consolidation or acquisition
of stock or assets) any corporation, partnership or other entity or division
thereof or any equity interest therein; (B) enter into any contract or agreement
that would be material to the Company, (C) amend, modify, waive or terminate any
right under any material contract in any way or any right under any other
contract in any material way; (D) modify its standard Company warranty terms for
its products or amend or modify any product warranties in effect as of the date
hereof in any manner that is adverse to the Company or any of its subsidiaries;
or (E) except as set forth in Section 5.1(a)(xii)(E) of the Company Disclosure
Schedule, authorize any new capital expenditure or expenditures that
individually is in excess of Ten Thousand Dollars ($10,000) or in the aggregate
are in excess of Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000), or that would otherwise be
material to the Company;
(xiii) make any tax election or settle or compromise any
income tax liability or permit any insurance policy naming it as a beneficiary
or loss payee to expire, or to be canceled or terminated, unless a comparable
insurance policy reasonably acceptable to Parent is obtained and in effect;
(xiv) settle or compromise any pending or threatened suit,
action or claim that (A) relates to the transactions contemplated hereby or (B)
the settlement or compromise of which would be for more than Ten Thousand
Dollars ($10,000) in any single case, or Twenty Thousand Dollars ($20,000) in
the aggregate, or that would otherwise be material to the Company;
(xv)
except as set forth in Section 5.1(a)(xv) of the
Company Disclosure Schedule, make any payment to any stockholder, officer,
director or employee of the Company or any affiliate or relative of any of them
except for payment for services rendered by any such person as an employee or
independent contractor of the Company in the Ordinary Course of Business
consistent with past practice;
(xvi) commence any software, hardware or other technology
development project or terminate any software, hardware or other technology
development project that is currently ongoing; or
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(xvii) allow the Company's rights in any Intellectual
Property to be abandoned or otherwise lost,
(xviii) sell, license or sublicense to any third party any
of the Company's Intellectual Property;
(xix)
take or agree in writing or otherwise that would
make any of the representations or warranties of the Company contained in this
Agreement untrue or incorrect; and
(xx)
permit any holder of Company Convertible Securities
to effect a cashless exercise of such securities other than pursuant to a
written agreement providing for a one-day loan of funds in the amount of the
aggregate exercise price therefor and requiring immediate repayment of such note
from the portion of the Cash Consideration payable to such holder.
(b) The Company shall:
(i)
maintain the assets and properties of the Company in
the Ordinary Course of Business in the manner historically maintained by the
Company, reasonable wear and tear, damage by fire and other casualty excepted;
(ii)
promptly repair, restore or replace any assets or
properties of the Company in the Ordinary Course of Business consistent with
past practice;
(iii)

upon any damage, destruction or loss to any of the

assets or properties of the Company, apply any and all insurance proceeds
received with respect thereto to the prompt repair, replacement and restoration
thereof;
(iv)

comply with all applicable laws;

(v)
file all foreign, federal, state and local Tax
Returns required to be filed and make timely payment of all applicable Taxes
when due and pay the expenses of preparation therefor (other than where the
Company is disputing any such obligation in good faith);
(vi)
take all actions reasonably necessary to be in
compliance with all material contracts and to maintain the effectiveness of all
of the Company's Permits;
(vii)
notify Parent of any action, event, condition or
circumstance, or group of actions, events, conditions or circumstances, relating
to the Company or any other Person that results in, or would reasonably be
expected to result in, a Material Adverse Effect on the Company;
(viii) notify Parent in writing of the commencement of any
Actions or Proceedings by or against the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and
(ix)
pay accounts payable and pursue collection of its
accounts receivable in the Ordinary Course of Business.
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5.2 PROXY STATEMENT. As promptly as practicable after the execution of
this Agreement, the Company shall prepare and file with the SEC the Proxy
Statement. The Proxy Statement shall also include the recommendation of the
Board of Directors of the Company in favor of the Merger which shall not be
withdrawn, modified or withheld except in compliance with the fiduciary duties
of the Company's Board under applicable law.
5.3 MEETING OF STOCKHOLDERS. Promptly after the date hereof, the Company
shall take all action necessary in accordance with Delaware Law and its
Certificate of Incorporation and By-laws to convene the Company Stockholders'
Meeting to be held as promptly as practicable for the purpose of voting upon
this Agreement and the Merger.
5.4 NO SOLICITATION OR NEGOTIATION. Between the date hereof and the
earlier of the termination of this Agreement and July 1, 2001, the Company will
not (nor will the Company permit any of the Company's officers, directors,
employees, agents, representatives or affiliates to) directly or indirectly,
take any of the following actions with any person other than Parent and
Acquisition Co.: (i) solicit, initiate, entertain or encourage any proposals or
offers from, or conduct discussions with or engage in negotiations with any
person relating to any possible acquisition of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries (whether by way of merger, purchase of capital stock, purchase of
assets or otherwise), any material portion of its or their capital stock or
assets or any equity interest in the Company; (ii) provide information with
respect to it or any of its subsidiaries to any person, other than Parent and
Acquisition Co., relating to, or otherwise cooperate with, facilitate or
encourage any effort or attempt by any such person with regard to, any possible
acquisition of the Company (whether by way of merger, purchase of capital stock,
purchase of assets or otherwise), any portion of its or their capital stock or
assets or any equity interest in the Company; or (iii) enter into any agreement
with any person providing for the possible acquisition of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries (whether by way of merger, purchase of capital stock, purchase
of assets or otherwise), any portion of its or their capital stock or assets or
any equity interest in the Company.
5.5 ACCESS TO INFORMATION. Between the date hereof and the Effective
Time, the Company shall give Parent and its authorized representatives
(including, without limitation, its attorneys and accountants), upon reasonable
notice from Parent, reasonable access to all employees, customers, plants,
offices, warehouses and other facilities, to (and where necessary, provide
copies of) all books and records, contracts and all personnel files of current
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries as Parent may reasonably require,
and will cause its officers and those of its subsidiaries to furnish Parent with
such financial and operating data and other information with respect to the

business and properties of the Company and its subsidiaries as Parent may from
time to time reasonably request.
5.6 PUBLIC ANNOUNCEMENTS; COMPANY LITERATURE. None of Parent,
Acquisition Co. or the Company shall issue any press release or otherwise make
any public statements with respect to the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement, including the Merger, without the prior consent of Parent and
Acquisition Co. (in the case of the Company) or the Company (in the case of
Parent or Acquisition Co.), except as may be required by applicable law,
including any determination by Parent that a press release or other public
statement is required under applicable securities or regulatory rules. If any
party determines, with the advice of counsel, that it is required by applicable
law to make this Agreement or any terms thereof public, it shall, consult with
the other parties regarding such disclosure and seek confidential treatment for
such terms or
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portions of this Agreement as may be requested by the other parties. The parties
agree to announce this Agreement or the consummation of the Merger to the
Company's employees, customers, vendors and strategic partners at such time and
in such form as is mutually agreed upon by Parent and the Company.
5.7 NOTIFICATION OF CERTAIN MATTERS. The Company shall give prompt
notice to Parent of (i) the occurrence or nonoccurrence of any event the
occurrence or nonoccurrence of which has caused or would be likely to cause any
representation or warranty contained in this Agreement by the Company to be
untrue or inaccurate at or prior to the Effective Time or (ii) any failure by
the Company to comply with or satisfy in any material respect any covenant,
condition or agreement to be complied with or satisfied by it hereunder;
provided, however, that the delivery of any notice pursuant to this Section 5.7
shall not cure such breach or non-compliance by the Company, limit or otherwise
affect the remedies available hereunder to Parent, or constitute an amendment of
any representation, warranty or statement in this Agreement or the Company
Disclosure Schedules.
5.8 SATISFACTION OF CONDITIONS TO CLOSING. Between the date hereof and
the Effective Time, the Company shall use its best efforts to cause all the
conditions set forth in Section 6.3 to be satisfied.
5.9 FEES AND EXPENSES. If the Merger is not consummated, then all fees,
costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Merger, this Agreement and
the other agreements and transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including
all legal, accounting, financial advisory, broker's consulting and other fees
and expenses of third parties incurred by a party in connection with the
negotiation, documentation and effectuation of the terms and conditions of the
Merger, this Agreement and the other agreements and transactions contemplated
hereby and thereby ("Third Party Expenses"), shall be the obligation of the
respective party incurring such Third Party Expenses. If the Merger is
consummated, then Parent shall pay its Third Party Expenses and the Company's
Third Party Expenses; provided, however, that any of the Company's Third Party
Expenses in excess of $166,000 in the aggregate shall be considered Damages for
which Parent shall be indemnified in accordance with the provisions of Section
8.2(a).
5.10 CONFIDENTIALITY. Each of the parties hereto will maintain in
confidence, and will cause its respective directors, officers, employees,
agents, Affiliates and advisors to maintain in confidence any written, oral or
other information furnished by another party to this Agreement in connection
with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, unless (a) such
information is already known to such party or to others not bound by a duty of
confidentiality, (b) such information becomes publicly available through no
fault of such party, (c) the use of such information is necessary or appropriate
in making any filing or obtaining any consent or approval required for the
consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, or (d) the
furnishing or use of such information is required by law. If the Merger is not
consummated, the confidentiality obligations of each party pursuant to this
Section 5.10 will continue, and each party will return or, at the request of the
party supplying the information, destroy as much of such written information as
the other party may reasonably request.
5.11 VOTING AGREEMENTS. Concurrently with the execution and delivery of

this Agreement, certain stockholders of the Company, as listed on Schedule 1,
are executing and delivering to Parent a voting agreement and proxy, in
substantially the form attached hereto as
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Exhibit M (the "Voting Agreement"), pursuant to which each such stockholder
agrees to vote all of such stockholder's shares of Company Common Stock to
approve this Agreement and the Merger, and grants Parent an irrevocable proxy to
so vote such stockholder's shares of Company Common Stock.
ARTICLE VI
CONDITIONS TO CONSUMMATION OF THE MERGER
6.1 CONDITIONS TO EACH PARTY'S OBLIGATIONS TO EFFECT THE MERGER. The
respective obligations of each party hereto to effect the Merger are subject to
the satisfaction at or prior to the Effective Time of the following conditions:
(a) no statute, rule, regulation, executive order, decree, ruling
or injunction shall have been enacted, entered, promulgated or enforced by any
United States federal or state court or United States federal or state
Governmental Entity that prohibits, restrains, enjoins or restricts the
consummation of the Merger; and
(b) any governmental or regulatory notices, approvals or other
requirements necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby shall
have been given, obtained or complied with, as applicable.
6.2 CONDITIONS TO THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE COMPANY. The obligation of the
Company to effect the Merger is subject to the satisfaction at or prior to the
Effective Time of the following conditions:
(a) the representations and warranties of Parent and Acquisition
Co. contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material
respects at and as of the Effective Time with the same effect as if made at and
as of the Effective Time (except to the extent such representations specifically
relate to an earlier date, in which case such representations shall be true and
correct in all material respects as of such earlier date) and, at the Closing,
Parent and Acquisition Co. shall have delivered to the Company a certificate to
that effect, executed by an officer of Parent and Acquisition Co.;
(b) each of the covenants and obligations of Parent and
Acquisition Co. to be performed at or before the Effective Time pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement shall have been duly performed in all material respects
at or before the Effective Time and, at the Closing, Parent and Acquisition Co.
shall have delivered to the Company a certificate to that effect, executed by an
officer of Parent and Acquisition Co.; and
(c) Parent shall have delivered all of Closing deliveries set
forth in Section 2.10(c) above.
6.3 CONDITIONS TO THE OBLIGATIONS OF PARENT AND ACQUISITION CO. The
respective obligations of Parent and Acquisition Co. to effect the Merger are
subject to the satisfaction at or prior to the Effective Time of the following
conditions:
(a) the representations and warranties of the Company contained
in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects at and as
of the Effective Time with
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the same effect as if made at and as of the Effective Time (except to the extent
such representations specifically relate to an earlier date, in which case such
representations shall be true and correct in all material respects as of such
earlier date) and, at the Closing, the Company shall have delivered to Parent
and Acquisition Co. a certificate to that effect, executed by an executive
officer of the Company;

(b) each of the covenants and obligations of the Company to be
performed at or before the Effective Time pursuant to the terms of this
Agreement shall have been duly performed in all material respects at or before
the Effective Time and, at the Closing, the Company shall have delivered to
Parent and Acquisition Co. a certificate to that effect, executed by an
executive officer of the Company;
(c) the Company shall have obtained all requisite approvals of
the holders of the Outstanding Company Common Stock for this Agreement and the
Merger,
(d) the consents specified on Section 3.33 of the Company
Disclosure Schedule and any other material third party consents necessary to
consummate the transactions contemplated hereby shall have been given, obtained
or complied with as applicable;
(e) there shall have been no events, changes or effects,
individually or in the aggregate, with respect to the Company having, or that
would reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect on the Company;
(f) Pauline Gee shall not have terminated her employment with the
Company or given written or oral notice to the Company or Parent of her
intention to do so after the consummation of the Merger;
(g) no more than 10% of the Outstanding Company Common Stock
shall be Dissenting Shares, with respect to which dissenters' rights have not
terminated;
(h) the Company shall have delivered all of the Closing
deliveries set forth in Section 2.10(b) above;
(i) Parent shall be satisfied with the results of its due
diligence investigation of the Company in its sole discretion;
(j) all Company Convertible Securities, including without
limitation all outstanding options, shall have been converted into or exercised
for shares of Company Common Stock or shall have been terminated, it being
understood that the Cash Consideration to be paid by Parent at the Closing shall
be reduced by the aggregate stated cash exercise price of all Company
Convertible Securities exercised for shares of Company Common Stock by net
exercise thereof (the "Aggregate Net Exercise Price"); and
(k) Pauline Gee shall have entered into an Employment Agreement,
in substantially the form of Exhibit F.
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ARTICLE VII
TERMINATION; AMENDMENT; WAIVER
7.1 TERMINATION. This Agreement may be terminated and the Merger may be
abandoned at any time prior to the Effective Time whether before or after
approval and adoption of this Agreement:
(a) by written consent of Parent, Acquisition Co., and the
Company;
(b) by Parent and Acquisition Co. or the Company if (i) any court
of competent jurisdiction in the United States or other United States federal or
state governmental entity shall have issued a final order, decree or ruling, or
taken any other final action, restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting
the Merger and such order, decree, ruling or other action is or shall have
become non-appealable, or (ii) the Merger has not been consummated by June 1,
2001 (the "Final Date"); provided that no party may terminate this Agreement
pursuant to this clause (ii) if such party's failure to fulfill any of its
obligations under this Agreement shall have been a principal reason that the
Effective Time shall not have occurred on or before said date;
(c) by the Company on written notice to Parent if (i) there shall
have been a material breach of any representations or warranties on the part of

Parent or Acquisition Co. set forth in this Agreement or if any representations
or warranties of Parent or Acquisition Co. shall have become untrue in any
material respect, and Parent or Acquisition Co., as the case may be, has not
cured such breach within ten (10) business days after notice by the Company
thereof, provided that the Company has not breached any of its obligations
hereunder in any material respect; or (ii) there shall have been a breach by
Parent or Acquisition Co. of any of their respective covenants or agreements
hereunder in any material respect or materially adversely affecting (or
materially delaying) the ability of Parent, Acquisition Co. or the Company to
consummate the Merger, and Parent or Acquisition Co., as the case may be, has
not cured such breach within ten (10) business days after notice by the Company
thereof, provided that the Company has not breached any of its obligations
hereunder in any material respect; or
(d) by Parent and Acquisition Co. on written notice to the
Company if (i) there shall have been a material breach of any representations or
warranties on the part of the Company set forth in this Agreement or if any
representations or warranties of the Company shall have become untrue in any
material respect, and the Company has not cured such breach within ten (10)
business days after notice by Parent or Acquisition Co. thereof, provided that
neither Parent nor Acquisition Co. has breached any of their respective
obligations hereunder in any material respect; or (ii) there shall have been a
breach by the Company of one or more of its covenants or agreements hereunder in
any material respect or materially adversely affecting (or materially delaying)
the ability of Parent, Acquisition Co. or the Company to consummate the Merger,
and the Company has not cured such breach within ten (10) business days after
notice by Parent or Acquisition Co. thereof, provided that neither Parent nor
Acquisition Co. has breached any of its respective obligations hereunder in any
material respect.
7.2 EFFECT OF TERMINATION. In the event of the termination and
abandonment of this Agreement pursuant to Section 7.1 above, this Agreement
shall forthwith become void and have no effect without liability on the part of
any party hereto or its Affiliates, directors, officers or
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stockholders, other than liability for any pre-termination breach; provided,
that the following provisions shall survive any termination: Section 7.2 and
Sections 5.6, 5.7, 7.4, 9.9, 9.10, 9.11 and 9.12.
7.3 AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended by action taken by the
Company, Parent and Acquisition Co. at any time before or after approval of the
Merger by the stockholders of the Company but after any such approval no
amendment shall be made that requires the approval of such stockholders under
applicable law without such approval. This Agreement (including the Company
Disclosure Schedule) may be amended only by an instrument in writing signed on
behalf of the parties hereto.
7.4 BREAK-UP FEE. In the event (i) the Company breaches its obligations
under Section 5.4 above, (ii) Parent terminates this Agreement pursuant to
Section 7.1(d) above, or (iii) Parent terminates this Agreement due to the
failure of the condition set forth in Section 2.10(b)(viii), the Company shall
grant to Parent a non-exclusive, royalty-free license to the Company's Gene
Expression Profiling Technology Patents (as defined below) in the form of
Exhibit L attached hereto (the "License Agreement"). The License Agreement shall
be deemed to be in full force and effect immediately upon the occurrence of (i),
(ii) or (iii) above even if not then executed by the parties. The parties
acknowledge and agree that it is difficult or impossible to determine with
precision the amount of damages that would or might be incurred by Parent in the
event of (i), (ii) or (iii) above. It is understood and agreed by the parties
that in the event of (i), (ii) or (iii) above, (A) it would be impracticable or
extremely difficult to fix the actual damages resulting therefrom, (B) the
granting of the license under the License Agreement is in the nature of
liquidated damages, and not a penalty, and is fair and reasonable, and (C) the
fair market value of the license granted pursuant to the License Agreement
represents a reasonable estimate of fair compensation for the losses that may
reasonably be anticipated by Parent upon the occurrence of (i), (ii) or (iii)
above, and shall be the sole and exclusive measure of damages in any such event.
Upon the effectiveness of the License Agreement in accordance with the
provisions of this Section 7.4, the Company shall be relieved of any further
liability in respect of damages relating to the fact or circumstance giving rise

to such liquidated damages. "Gene Expression Profiling Technology Patents" shall
mean (1) United States patent numbers 5,585,232 (issued December 17, 1996),
5,589,337 (issued December 31, 1996) and 5,811,231 (issued September 22, 1998)
and divisional patent application 09/074,938 (filed May 8, 1998), (2) all
inventions described and/or claimed therein, (3) all substitutions, divisions,
continuations, continuations-in-part, reissues or reexaminations thereof and
patents issuing thereon, and (4) all foreign patents and patent applications
corresponding thereto.
7.5 EXTENSION; WAIVER. At any time prior to the Effective Time, each
party hereto may, only by action taken in writing, (i) extend the time for the
performance of any of the obligations or other acts of the other party, (ii)
waive any inaccuracies in the representations and warranties of the other party
contained herein or in any document certificate or writing delivered pursuant
hereto or (iii) waive compliance by the other party with any of the agreements
or conditions contained herein. Any agreement on the part of any party hereto to
any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument,
in writing, signed on behalf of such party. The failure of any party hereto to
assert any of its rights hereunder shall not constitute a waiver of such rights.
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ARTICLE VIII
ACTIONS BY THE PARTIES AFTER THE CLOSING
8.1 SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES, ETC. The representations,
warranties and covenants contained in or made pursuant to this Agreement or any
certificate, document or instrument delivered pursuant to or in connection with
this Agreement in the transactions contemplated hereby shall survive the
execution and delivery of this Agreement and the Closing hereunder
(notwithstanding any investigation, analysis or evaluation by any party hereto
or their designees of the Assets and Properties, business, operations or
condition (financial or otherwise) of the other party), and thereafter the
representations and warranties the parties herein shall continue to survive in
full force and effect for a period of twelve (12) months after the Closing Date.
8.2 INDEMNIFICATION.
(a) Out of the Indemnity Escrow Amount. Subject to Section 8.2(e)
below, the Parent, the Surviving Corporation and their respective officers,
directors, employees, affiliates, agents, successors, subsidiaries and assigns
(collectively the "Parent Group") shall be indemnified, defended and held
harmless out and to the extent of the Indemnity Escrow Amount from and against
any and all costs, losses (including, without limitation, diminution in value),
liabilities, damages, lawsuits, deficiencies, claims and expenses, including
without limitation, interest, penalties, costs of mitigation, lost profits,
losses resulting from any shutdown or curtailment of operations, attorneys' fees
and all amounts paid in investigation, defense or settlement of any of the
foregoing (collectively, the "Damages"), incurred in connection with, arising
out of, resulting from or incident to any breach of any covenant,
representation, warranty or agreement or the inaccuracy of any representation,
made by the Company in or pursuant to this Agreement, or in the other documents
delivered to Parent or Acquisition Co. in connection with the transactions
contemplated in this Agreement.
(b) By Parent. Parent and Acquisition Co. shall, jointly and
severally, indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Company Stockholders and
their respective officers, employees, agents, successors and assigns from and
against any and all Damages incurred in connection with, arising out of,
resulting from or incident to any breach of any covenant, representation,
warranty or agreement or the inaccuracy of any representation, made by Parent in
or pursuant to this Agreement, or in any other documents delivered to the
Company or to any Company Stockholder in his capacity as a Company Stockholder
in connection with the transactions contemplated in this Agreement.
(c) Third Party Claims; Defense of Claims. If any Action or
Proceeding is filed or initiated against any party entitled to the benefit of
indemnity hereunder, written notice thereof shall be given to the indemnifying
party (or if the indemnification is out of the Indemnity Escrow Amount, the
Stockholder Representatives) as promptly as practicable (and in any event within
ten (10) days after the service of the citation or summons); provided, however,

that the failure of any indemnified party to give timely notice shall not affect
rights to indemnification and defense hereunder except to the extent that the
indemnifying party demonstrates actual damage caused by such failure. After such
notice, if the indemnifying party (or the Stockholder Representatives, as
applicable) shall acknowledge in writing to the indemnified party that the
indemnifying party
42
48
shall be obligated under the terms of its indemnity hereunder in connection with
such Action or Proceeding, then the indemnifying party (or the Stockholder
Representatives, as applicable) shall be entitled, if it so elects, to take
control of the defense and investigation of such Action or Proceeding and to
employ and engage attorneys of its own choice to handle and defend the same,
such attorneys to be reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party, at the
indemnifying party's (or the Indemnity Escrow Amount's, as applicable) cost,
risk and expense (unless (i) the indemnifying party (or the Stockholder
Representatives, as applicable) has failed to assume the defense of such Action
or Proceeding or (ii) the named parties to such Action or Proceeding include
both of the indemnifying party and the indemnified party, and the indemnified
party (or the Stockholder Representatives, as applicable) and its counsel
determine in good faith that there may be one or more legal defenses available
to such indemnified party that are different from or additional to those
available to the indemnifying party and that joint representation would be
inappropriate), and to compromise or settle such Action or Proceeding, which
compromise or settlement shall be made only with the written consent of the
indemnified party (or the Stockholder Representatives, as applicable), such
consent not to be unreasonably withheld. The indemnified party (or the
Stockholder Representatives, as applicable) may withhold such consent if such
compromise or settlement would adversely affect the conduct of business or
requires less than an unconditional release to be obtained. If (i) the
indemnifying party (or the Stockholder Representatives, as applicable) fails to
assume the defense of such Action or Proceeding within fifteen (15) days after
receipt of notice thereof pursuant to this Section 8.2, or (ii) the named
parties to such Action or Proceeding include both the indemnifying party and the
indemnified party and the indemnified party (or the Stockholder Representatives,
as applicable) and its counsel determine in good faith that there may be one or
more legal defenses available to such indemnified party that are different from
or additional to those available to the indemnifying party and that joint
representation would be inappropriate, the indemnified party against which such
Action or Proceeding has been filed or initiated (or the Stockholder
Representatives, as applicable) will (upon delivering notice to such effect to
the indemnifying party or the Stockholder Representatives, as applicable) have
the right to undertake, at the indemnifying party's (or the Indemnity Escrow
Amount's, as applicable) cost and expense, the defense, compromise or settlement
of such Action or Proceeding on behalf of and for the account and risk of the
indemnifying party (or the Indemnity Escrow Amount, as applicable); provided,
however, that such Action or Proceeding shall not be compromised or settled
without the written consent of the indemnifying party (or the Stockholder
Representatives, as applicable), which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld. In the event the indemnified party (or the Stockholder
Representatives, as applicable) assumes defense of the Action or Proceeding, the
indemnified party (or the Stockholder Representatives, as applicable) will keep
the indemnifying party (or the Stockholder Representatives, as applicable)
reasonably informed of the progress of any such defense, compromise or
settlement and will consult with, when appropriate, and consider any reasonable
advice from, the indemnifying party (or the Stockholder Representatives, as
applicable) with respect to any such defense, compromise or settlement. The
indemnifying party (or the Indemnity Escrow Amount, as applicable) shall be
liable for any settlement of any action effected pursuant to and in accordance
with this Section 8.2 and for any final judgment (subject to any right of
appeal), and the indemnifying party agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the
indemnified party (or the indemnified party shall be indemnified and held
harmless out and to the extent of the Indemnity Escrow Amount, as applicable)
from and against any Damages by reason of such settlement or judgment.
43
49
Regardless of whether the indemnifying party (or the Stockholder

Representatives, as applicable) or the indemnified party (or the Stockholder
Representatives, as applicable) takes up the defense, the indemnifying party
will pay (or out and to the extent of the Indemnity Escrow Amount shall be paid,
as applicable) reasonable costs and expenses in connection with the defense,
compromise or settlement for any Action or Proceeding under this Section 8.2.
The indemnified party (or the Stockholder Representatives, as
applicable) shall cooperate in all reasonable respects with the indemnifying
party (or the Stockholder Representatives, as applicable) and its attorneys in
the investigation, trial and defense of such Action or Proceeding and any appeal
arising therefrom; provided, however, that the indemnified party (or the
Stockholder Representatives, as applicable) may, at its own cost (or the cost of
the Indemnity Escrow Amount, as applicable), participate in the investigation,
trial and defense of such Action or Proceeding and any appeal arising therefrom.
The indemnifying party shall pay (or out and to the extent of the Indemnity
Escrow Amount shall be paid, as applicable) all expenses due under this Section
8.2 as such expenses become due. In the event such expenses are not so paid, the
indemnified party (or the Stockholder Representatives, as applicable) shall be
entitled to settle any Action or Proceeding under this Section 8.2 without the
consent of the indemnifying party (or the Stockholder Representatives, as
applicable) and without waiving any rights the indemnified party may have
against the indemnifying party.
(d) Indemnity Claims. A claim for indemnification for any matter
not involving a third-party claim may be asserted by notice to the party from
whom indemnification is sought (or the Stockholder Representatives, as
applicable) pursuant to the terms and conditions set forth in the Escrow
Agreement.
(e) Limitation on Indemnification.
(i)
The Company Stockholders shall not be entitled to
indemnification from Parent, and Parent, Acquisition Co. and no member of the
Parent Group shall be entitled to indemnification out of the Indemnity Escrow
Amount, for amounts payable pursuant to the indemnification obligations in this
Section 8.2 until the total of all such Damages incurred by the indemnified
party exceed Fifty Thousand Dollars ($50,000) in the aggregate (the "Threshold
Amount"), in which case the indemnified party shall be entitled to
indemnification from the indemnifying party for all Damages due hereunder
including the Threshold Amount;
(ii)
Except for actions by Parent and/or any member of the
Parent Group and/or Acquisition Co. against the officers and directors of the
Company for any fraud or intentional breach by the Company or its officers and
directors, from and after the Effective Time, the indemnification provisions of
Section 8.2 shall be the exclusive remedy for Parent and/or any member of the
Parent Group and/or Acquisition Co. for a breach of any representation, warranty
or covenant by the Company in this Agreement and shall be in lieu of any rights
Parent and/or any member of the Parent Group and/or Acquisition Co. may have
under law or in equity with respect to any such breaches or otherwise. Any and
all claims, actions, or losses that Parent and/or the Parent Group and/or
Acquisition Co. may have against the Company or the Company Stockholders, in the
aggregate, shall be limited to and payable only up to the limit of the Indemnity
Escrow Amount and Parent and/or the Parent Group and/or Acquisition Co. shall
have no other recourse for any claims, actions or losses, whatsoever, in excess
thereof. The foregoing does not release the officers and directors of the
Company,
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individually, for any actions against such officers and directors for fraud or
intentional breach by the Company of any representation, warranty or covenant
made by the Company in this Agreement.
(iii) Upon making any payments to Parent and/or any member
of the Parent Group and/or Acquisition Co. for any indemnification claim
pursuant to Section 8.2, the Company Stockholders shall be subrogated, to the
extent of such payment to Parent and/or any member of the Parent Group and/or
Acquisition Co., to any rights the Company may have against third parties with
respect to the subject matter underlying such indemnification claim.
8.3 INDEMNITY ESCROW ACCOUNT. The Indemnity Escrow Amount shall be

maintained in the escrow account established pursuant to the Escrow Agreement
until the date which is twelve (12) months following the Closing Date (the
"Escrow Period") for the purpose of satisfying claims by Parent and/or any
member of the Parent Group and/or Acquisition Co. for indemnification under this
Article VIII. Upon expiration of the Escrow Period, and subject to the terms of
this Section 8.3 and the Escrow Agreement, the Escrow Agent shall deliver or
cause to be delivered to the Company Stockholders the balance, if any, remaining
in the escrow account. If, upon expiration of the Escrow Period, Parent and/or
any member of the Parent Group and/or Acquisition Co. shall have asserted a
claim for indemnity in accordance with this Article VIII and such claim is
pending or unresolved at the time of such expiration, the Escrow Agent shall
retain in escrow an amount of cash equal to the value of the asserted claim
until such matter is resolved.
8.4 FURTHER ASSURANCES. In case at any time after the Closing any
further action is necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this
Agreement, each of the parties will take such further action (including the
execution and delivery of such further instruments and documents) as the other
party reasonably may request, all the sole cost and expense of the requesting
party (unless the requesting party is entitled to indemnification therefor under
this Article VIII).
ARTICLE IX
MISCELLANEOUS
9.1 NOTICES. All notices, requests and other communications hereunder
must be in writing and will be deemed to have been duly given only if delivered
personally against written receipt or by facsimile transmission with answer back
confirmation or mailed (postage prepaid by certified or registered mail, return
receipt requested) or by overnight courier to the parties at the following
addresses or facsimile numbers:
If to the Company, to:
Xenometrix, Inc.
2425 North 55th Street
Boulder, Colorado 80301
Facsimile No. (303) 447-1758
Attention: President
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If to the Stockholder Representatives, to:
Stephen J. Sullivan
935 Country Place
Lake Forest, IL 60045
Facsimile No. (609) 987-9025
And
John K.A. Prendergast
3 Registry Drive
Lawrenceville, NJ 08648
Facsimile No. (609) 844-9691
with copies to:
Allen Matkins Leck Gamble & Mallory LLP
333 Bush Street, 17th Floor
San Francisco, California 94104
Facsimile No. (415) 837-1516
Attention: Roger S. Mertz, Esq.
If to Parent, Acquisition Co., or Surviving Corporation:
Discovery Partners International, Inc.
9640 Towne Centre Drive
San Diego, CA 92121
Facsimile No: (858) 455-8088
Attention: Chief Executive Officer

with copies to:
Brobeck, Phleger & Harrison LLP
12390 El Camino Real
San Diego, CA 92130
Facsimile No.: (858) 720-2555
Attention: Hayden J. Trubitt, Esq.
All such notices, requests and other communications will (i) if delivered
personally to the address as provided in this Section 9.1, be deemed given upon
delivery (provided written receipt of such delivery is obtained), (ii) if
delivered by facsimile transmission to the facsimile number as provided in this
Section 9.1, be deemed given upon transmission (provided answer back
confirmation is obtained), and (iii) if delivered by mail in the manner
described above to the address as provided in this Section 9.1, be deemed given
two business days after posting (in each case regardless of whether such notice,
request or other communication is received by any other Person to whom a copy of
such notice, request or other communication is to be delivered pursuant to this
Section). Any party from time to time may change its address, facsimile number
or other information for the purpose of notices to that party by giving notice
specifying such change to the other parties hereto.
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9.2 ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement (and all exhibits and schedules
attached hereto, and all other documents delivered in connection herewith)
supersede all prior and contemporaneous commitments, discussions and agreements
among the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and contain the sole
and entire agreement among the parties hereto with respect thereto.
9.3 WAIVER. Any term or condition of this Agreement may be waived at any
time by the party that is entitled to the benefit thereof, but no such waiver
shall be effective unless set forth in a written instrument duly executed by or
on behalf of the party waiving such term or condition. No waiver by any party
hereto of any term or condition of this Agreement, in any one or more instances,
shall be deemed to be or construed as a waiver of the same or any other term or
condition of this Agreement on any future occasion. All remedies, either under
this Agreement or by law or otherwise afforded, will be cumulative and not
alternative.
9.4 AMENDMENT. This Agreement may be amended, supplemented or modified
only by a written instrument duly executed by or on behalf of each party hereto.
9.5 NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY. The terms and provisions of this
Agreement are intended solely for the benefit of each party hereto and their
respective successors or permitted assigns, and it is not the intention of the
parties to confer third-party beneficiary rights upon any other Person other
than any Person entitled to indemnity or defense under Article VIII.
9.6 NO ASSIGNMENT; BINDING EFFECT. Neither this Agreement nor any right,
interest or obligation hereunder may be assigned by any party hereto without the
prior written consent of the other parties hereto and any attempt to do so will
be void, except that any party's rights to indemnification under Article VIII
may be freely assigned. This Agreement is binding upon, inures to the benefit of
and is enforceable by the parties hereto and their respective permitted
successors and assigns.
9.7 HEADINGS. The headings used in this Agreement have been inserted for
convenience of reference only and do not define or limit the provisions hereof.
9.8 SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be
illegal, invalid or unenforceable under any present or future law, and if the
rights or obligations of any party hereto under this Agreement will not be
materially and adversely affected thereby, (i) such provision will be fully
severable, (ii) this Agreement will be construed and enforced as if such
illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision had never comprised a part hereof,
(iii) the remaining provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and
effect and will not be affected by the illegal, invalid or unenforceable
provision or by its severance herefrom and (iv) in lieu of such illegal, invalid
or unenforceable provision, there will be added automatically as a part of this
Agreement a legal, valid and enforceable provision as similar in terms to such

illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision as may be possible and mutually
acceptable to the parties herein.
9.9 GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of California applicable to contracts
executed and performed in such State, without giving effect to conflicts of laws
principles.
9.10 ARBITRATION AND VENUE. Any controversy or claim arising out of or
relating to this Agreement or the making, performance or interpretation thereof
shall be submitted to
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arbitration in San Diego, California, pursuant to the rules and procedures of
the commercial arbitration rules of the American Arbitration Association before
a panel of three arbitrators. The ruling of the arbitrator shall be final, and
judgment thereon may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. If any
question is submitted to a court of law for resolution, then the Superior Court
of the County of San Diego or the United States District Court having
jurisdiction in the County of San Diego shall be the exclusive court of
competent jurisdiction for the resolution of such question. Each party will bear
one half of the cost of the arbitration filing and hearing fees, and the cost of
the arbitrator. Each party will bear its own attorneys' fees, unless otherwise
decided by the arbitrator. The parties understand and agree that the arbitration
shall be instead of any civil litigation and that the arbitrator's decision
shall be final and binding to the fullest extent permitted by law and
enforceable by any court having jurisdiction thereof. Each party shall be
entitled to pre-hearing discovery as provided in California Code of Civil
Procedure Section 1283.05.
9.11 CONSTRUCTION. No provision of this Agreement shall be construed in
favor of or against any party on the ground that such party or its counsel
drafted the provision. Any remedies provided for herein are not exclusive of any
other lawful remedies which may be available to either party. This Agreement
shall at all times be construed so as to carry out the purposes stated herein.
9.12 COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in any number of
counterparts and by facsimile, each of which will be deemed an original, but all
of which together will constitute one and the same instrument.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Agreement has been duly executed and delivered
by the parties hereto, by their respective duly authorized officers, as of the
date first above written.
DISCOVERY PARTNERS INTERNATIONAL, INC,
a Delaware corporation
By:

/S/ Jack Fitzpatrick

Name:

Jack Fitzpatrick

Title: Chief Financial Officer
DPI PATENTS, INC.,
a Delaware Corporation
By:

/S/ Jack Fitzpatrick

Name:

Jack Fitzpatrick

Title: Chief Financial Officer

XENOMETRIX, INC.,
a Delaware corporation
By:

/S/ Pauline Gee

Name:

Pauline Gee

Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
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